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The Competition and Consumer Commission of Singapore
(“CCCS”) administers and enforces the Competition Act
(Chapter 50B) which prohibits anti-competitive practices as
well as the Consumer Protection (Fair Trading) Act (Chapter
52A) or CPFTA which protects consumers against unfair trade
practices in Singapore. CCCS also represents Singapore on
competition matters and consumer protection matters in the
international arena. In addition, CCCS has a statutory duty to
advise the government or other public authorities on national
needs and policies in respect of competition and consumer
protection matters.

The functions of CCCS are supported by seven divisions, which

include: (1) Business & Economics, (2) Consumer Protection,
(3) Corporate Affairs, (4) Enforcement, (5) International,
Communications & Planning, (6) Legal, and (7) Policy & Markets.
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CHAIRMAN'S
MESSAGE

Mr Max Loh Khum Whai
Chairman

2020 was a challenging year for many of us. The
COVID-19 pandemic saw many businesses having to
implement measures to mitigate the disruptions to
supply chains, and to operate on a different modality.

In these unprecedented times, CCCS continued to
work closely with stakeholders and maintained its core
purpose and efforts of promoting competition and
protecting consumers.

A robust competition law and consumer protection
regime is the bedrock of well-functioning markets. In
administering and enforcing Singapore’s Competition Act
and Consumer Protection (Fair Trading) Act or CPFTA,
CCCS adopts a two-pronged approach of enforcement
and advocacy.

In FY2020, CCCS issued two infringement decisions,
both relating to bid rigging, and imposed fines totalling
over $450,000. One infringement decision pertained to
the collusion between providers of maintenance services
for swimming pools, spas, fountains and other water
features, and the other related to the collusion between
providers of building maintenance services.

CCCS also closed investigations into anti-competitive
conduct in the property valuation industry and the

online food delivery and virtual kitchen sectors after

the businesses involved took steps to address the
competition concerns raised by CCCS. In addition, CCCS’s
interventions in two separate cases have led to suppliers
signing undertakings to cease their unfair practices.

In the transport industry, CCCS lifted the directions it had
previously imposed on ride-hailing firm Grab, following
the commencement of the Point-To-Point Transport
Regulatory Framework which took effect in October 2020.
CCCS considered this timely, as the issues identified were
more appropriately considered and addressed within the
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context of the sectoral regulatory framework. Separately,
the Competition Appeal Board (“CAB”) upheld CCCS’s
infringement decision against Uber for its anti-competitive
merger with Grab in 2018. The CAB'’s decision affirms the
key findings made by CCCS and reinforces the message
that while Singapore has a voluntary notification merger
regime, merger parties should apply to CCCS for guidance
or a decision if they have concerns or are unsure as to
whether their merger may result in a substantial lessening of
competition. Where they choose to implement their merger
without first notifying CCCS despite potential competition
concerns, they run the risk of infringing the Act.

The COVID-19 pandemic has accelerated the drive
towards digital transformation. As the digital economy
becomes an integral aspect of our economy, it is
important that we understand the developments in
digital markets and ensure that our existing framework
remains relevant and robust. In this regard, CCCS
undertook a market study on e-commerce platforms

and published its findings and recommendations in
September 2020. The study identified areas where
further clarity and guidance by CCCS could be beneficial
to assist businesses in complying with competition

law in the digital space. Following the study, CCCS
recommended updates to its competition guidelines and
engaged e-commerce platforms to promote good trade
practices for sellers.

To give suppliers greater clarity on how to comply with
the CPFTA and help customers shop confidently, CCCS
developed and published the Guidelines on Price
Transparency which covered four key pricing practices -
drip pricing, price comparison, discounts, and the use of
the term ‘free’.

Despite lockdowns and travel restrictions, CCCS
maintained its active participation in regional and
international platforms, including the ASEAN Experts
Group on Competition, the International Consumer

Protection and Enforcement Network and the
International Competition Network where it was
appointed as co-chair of the Agency Effective Working
Group for three years beginning May 2020. These
engagements, although virtual, continued to facilitate
the sharing of knowledge and best practices between
CCCS and its international partners, and support cross-
border cooperation. We remain committed to forging and
deepening relationships with our foreign counterparts
to promote the global and regional development of
competition and consumer protection.

| would first like to express my appreciation to my
predecessor, Mr Aubeck Kam, for his capable leadership
and his contributions to CCCS in the past six years.
Under Aubeck’s leadership, CCCS has safeguarded
competition in markets and taken on its expanded role
of protecting consumers. | would also like to thank Mr
Kwek Mean Luck, formerly Solicitor-General, Attorney-
General's Chambers, who completed his term on the
Board on 31 December 2020. His contributions to CCCS
are deeply appreciated.

Next, | take the opportunity to thank the management
team and staff of CCCS for exhibiting resilience and
dedication in a year filled with uncertainty and adversity. |
would also like to thank my fellow commission members for
their unwavering commitment and valuable contributions.
At the same time, | extend a warm welcome to new Board
Members Ms Koh Puay Eng Agnes, Ms Chandra Mallika
and Mr Jaspal Singh, whose appointments took effect

on 1January 2021 as well as Mr Hri Kumar Nair, who was
appointed on 1 February 2021.

Lastly, my appreciation goes out to all our partners and
stakeholders whom CCCS has worked with through the
years. Thank you for your support and | look forward to
your future contributions towards making markets work
well for both businesses and consumers.

» 5 «



CCCS ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021

CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S
MESSAGE

Ms Sia Aik Kor
Chief Executive

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact

on economies and societies across the globe, disrupting
supply chains and our way of working and living. Despite
the challenges we faced in 2020, CCCS maintained
normalcy of its operations while continuing our mission
of making markets work well. | am very grateful to my
colleagues for rallying together, quickly adapting to the
circumstances, and delivering on our objectives in such a
time of crisis.

On the competition front, CCCS maintained our
enforcement efforts against anti-competitive conduct. Two
infringement decisions were issued against companies
which engaged in bid rigging and a total of over $450,000
was imposed in financial penalties. Bid rigging is one of

the most harmful types of anti-competitive conduct as

it distorts the competitive bidding process and prevents
customers from getting the best value for their tenders.
Putting a stop to such anti-competitive conduct remains
one of our core priorities.

During the year, CCCS reviewed four mergers across
different industries including renal dialysis, metro rolling
stock, ship building and index licensing, of which two
entailed in-depth Phase 2 reviews. The proposed merger

of Korean shipbuilders saw CCCS looking deeper into
whether there were viable alternative suppliers and close
competitors in the global supply of commercial vessels such
as oil tankers, containerships, liquefied natural gas carriers
and liquefied petroleum gas carriers, where barriers to entry
and expansion were generally high for new suppliers. In the
proposed merger between index licensing providers, CCCS
looked at the non-horizontal links between the parties

and raised concerns in relation to the continued access to
certain foreign exchange benchmarks, in response to which
commitments were proposed.

On the consumer protection front, CCCS had obtained
undertakings from suppliers in two separate cases to
cease their unfair practices. In one case, the owners
and operators of ABC Bargain Centre, Valu$ and ABC
Express retail outlets undertook to cease the use of
“Closing Down Sale” and “Fire Sale” advertisements. In
another case, the operator of the Expedia Singapore
website ceased its false claims on the validity period of
“Daily Deal” promotions. Advertisements or promotional
prices that mislead consumers into believing that there
is a price benefit which is only available for a limited
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period can create an unwarranted sense of urgency for
consumers to make an immediate purchase.

On the advocacy front, CCCS issued 21 competition
advisories to various government agencies, advising on the
impact of specific government initiatives on competition in
the affected markets, covering issues such as digitalisation,
industry transformation, the raising of industry standards
and sustainability initiatives. These advisories allow
government agencies to consider CCCS’s advice on
competition issues alongside other relevant considerations
in the process of formulating or implementing various
policies or initiatives.

CCCS maintained strong connections with our
stakeholders and continued its regular engagement of
businesses, trade associations and chambers through
virtual events and meetings. Together with the Economic
Society of Singapore (“ESS”), we organised the fourth run
of the CCCS-ESS Essay Competition which saw a record-
breaking 134 essays submitted across the Open and
School categories.

In partnership with the Singapore Academy of Law
(“SAL"), we organised the fifth run of the triennial
CCCS-SAL Conference in March 2021, which for the

first time was presented as a webinar series. Themed
“Transcending Boundaries — Competition Law in a Digital
Era”, panellists comprising academics, competition
practitioners and regulators from around the world and
representatives from the business community and trade
associations explored topics relating to competition law
and digital platforms, harnessing and protecting data,
mergers assessment and remedies in the digital economy,
market definition in a borderless economy as well as
navigating competition and consumer protection law
compliance and enforcement challenges.

To enhance the understanding of competition issues
among public officers, we organised two virtual
workshops under the Community of Practice for
Competition and Economic Regulations, an inter-agency
platform for government agencies to share best practices
on competition, consumer protection and regulatory
issues. The first workshop provided policy officers

with insights to the issues that arise from government
participation in the market and how CCCS’s competition
impact assessment framework can be used to identify
competition issues. The second workshop for economic

{

policy and industry development officers focused on
competition matters for economic policies using tailored
case studies.

The disruptions brought by the COVID-19 pandemic
necessitated that CCCS respond quickly and decisively
to a constantly evolving situation. Due to supply chain
disruptions, CCCS recognised that some competing
businesses may have to work together to sustain and
improve the supply of essential goods and services

in Singapore. To provide these businesses with more
clarity on such collaborations, while ensuring that they
do not engage in egregious anti-competitive activities,
CCCS issued the COVID-19 Guidance Note which
clarified our position on such business collaborations.
We also supported the government’s decision to
extend the Block Exemption Order for liner shipping
agreements, given the uncertainties brought about by
the pandemic.

CCCS also worked with other government agencies to
facilitate discussions between landlords and tenants to
establish a fair tenancy framework within the confines of
competition law. The aviation industry was one of the more
severely affected industries due to international border
closures. In this regard, CCCS temporarily suspended

the commitments that some airline alliances had offered
relating to flight capacity and frequency. CCCS also
reviewed its toolkit for airline mergers and alliances to
ensure that the necessary tools were in place to deal with
crisis-driven airline mergers and alliances.

We have formulated a new Five-Year Strategic Framework
which will guide our work initiatives till 2025. CCCS’s work
initiatives for FY2021 have been developed around the
following strategic thrusts, which include - enhancing

the competition and consumer protection regulatory and
enforcement regime to ensure that they remain relevant
and robust; shaping government policies and initiatives to
address competition concerns and safeguard consumers’
interests; and widening and deepening stakeholder
engagements to foster a culture of competition and fair
trading practices.

The pandemic is still ongoing. CCCS will continue to work
with our stakeholders as we approach a new normal and
emerge stronger together.
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COMMISSION MEMBERS

Chairman
(until 31 December 2020)

Mr Aubeck Kam

Permanent Secretary
Ministry of Manpower

Member

Ms Sia Aik Kor

Member of Human Resource
Committee

Chief Executive

Competition and Consumer
Commission of Singapore

Member

Mr Kan Yut Keong

Chairman of Audit Committee

Retired Accountant
PricewaterhouseCoopers
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Chairman
(from 1 January 2021)

Mr Max Loh Khum Whai
Chairman of Human Resource
Committee

Managing Partner,
Singapore & Brunei
Ernst & Young

Member

Prof Euston Quah
Member of Audit Committee

Albert Winsemius Chair
Professor of Economics

Head of Economics

Director, Economic Growth Centre
Nanyang Technological University

Member

(until 31 December 2020)

Mr Kwek Mean Luck
Chairman of Human Resource
Committee

Solicitor-General
Attorney-General’'s Chambers
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Member

Ms Cindy Khoo
Member of Human Resource
Committee

Director, Strategic Planning

Strategy Group
Prime Minister’s Office

Member

(from 1 January 2021)

Mr Jaspal Singh s/o
Gurbachan Singh

Senior Research Fellow
Institute of Policy Studies

Member

Dr Faizal Bin Yahya

Member of Audit Committee

Senior Research Fellow
Institute of Policy Studies,
National University of Singapore

Member
(from 1 January 2021)

Ms Chandra Mallika
Chief Operating Officer
(Asia Pacific) & Deputy Chief
Country Officer

Deutsche Bank (Singapore)
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Member

Ms Loo Siew Yee

Member of Human Resource
Committee

Assistant Managing Director
Policy, Payments & Financial
Crime

Monetary Authority of Singapore

Member

Prof Wong Poh Kam
Member of Audit Committee
Professor, Department of
Strategy & Policy

NUS Business School

National University of Singapore

Member
(from 1 January 2021)
Ms Koh Puay Eng Agnes

Member of Audit Committee

Chief Risk Officer
Singapore Exchange

Member

(from 1 February 2021)

Mr Hri Kumar Nair
Member of Human Resource
Committee

Deputy Attorney-General
Attorney-General’'s Chambers
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CCCS ORGANISATION
STRUCTURE

Chairman &
Commission

Assistant Chief
Executive

Legal, Enforcement
& Consumer
Protection

o Ms Sia Aik Kor

Chief Executive

Mr Lee Cheow Han
Assistant Chief Executive
(Legal, Enforcement &
Consumer Protection)
[until 30 November 2020]

Mr Loke Shiu Meng
Assistant Chief Executive
(Legal, Enforcement &
Consumer Protection)
[from 1 December 2020]

Ms Ng Ee Kia
Assistant Chief Executive
(Policy, Business & Economics)

Ms Winnie Ching

Senior Director (Legal)

Mr Teo Wee Guan
Senior Director (International,
Communications & Planning)

Dr Tan Hi Lin
Senior Director (Policy & Markets)
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Mr Herbert Fung
Senior Director
(Business & Economics)

Mr Goh Aik Hon

Director (Corporate Affairs)

Mr Jack Teng

Director (Consumer Protection)

Senior
Director

Legal

Director

Enforcement
(vacant)

Director

Consumer
Protection

Senior Principal
Legal Counsel
(vacant)

Director

Corporate Affairs

Members

Chief
Executive

CCCS

Assistant Chief
Executive

Policy, Business &
Economics

Senior
Senior Director Director
International, Business &

Communications Economics
& Planning

Senior Director
Policy & Markets

Senior Principal
Economist
(vacant)
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

BUSINESS &
ETHICAL CONDUCT

All CCCS officers are subject to the provisions
of the Official Secrets Act, the Statutory
Bodies and Government Companies
(Protection of Secrecy) Act and the Public
Sector (Governance) Act 2018. In addition,
the Competition Act contains provisions
governing the disclosure of information by
CCCS officers. CCCS officers are also bound
by CCCS’s Code of Conduct and are obliged
to adhere to internal policies
to avoid conflicts of interest.

CHAIRMAN &
COMMISSION MEMBERS

The Commission oversees the core work of
CCCS. It comprises the Chairman and eleven
Commission Members. Appointed by the
Minister for Trade and Industry, the Chairman
and the Commission Members bring with them
their expertise in legal, economic and financial
domains from public and private sectors. The
non-executive Commission Members are
remunerated based on Public Service
Division (“PSD”) guidelines.

HUMAN RESOURCE (“HR”)
COMMITTEE

The HR Committee was set up in August
2007 and is currently chaired by CCCS
Chairman Mr Max Loh Khum Whai (with
effect from 1 February 2021), with Mr
Hri Kumar Nair (also with effect from 1
February 2021), Ms Loo Siew Yee, Ms Cindy
Khoo and Ms Sia Aik Kor as its members.
Previously, the Committee was chaired
by Mr Kwek Mean Luck until 31 December
2020. The purpose of the Committee is
to advise the Commission with regard
to the formulation and implementation
of HR policies in order to uphold a high
standard of corporate governance within
CCCS, and promote the organisation as an
employer of choice. The Committee also
oversees staff performance appraisals and
decides on internal disclosure and staff
disciplinary cases.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee is chaired by

EXTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTIONS

Mr Kan Yut Keong, with Prof Euston Quah,

Prof Wong Poh Kam and Ms Koh Puay
Eng Agnes (with effect from 1 February

KPMG LLP was appointed by the Minister
for Trade and Industry in consultation with

2021) as its members. The purpose of the the Auditor-General to audit the accounts

Committee is to assist the Commission
in areas relating to audit, finance and
accounting, regulatory compliance,
and risk management. In addition, the

of CCCS for FY2020. The audited accounts

were duly approved by the Commission and
the Minister for Trade and Industry, with
the Auditor-General kept informed of the

Committee reviews the audited annual audited accounts.
financial statements and the adequacy
of CCCS’s internal controls with the
management, external auditors and
internal auditors.
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COMPETITION

Preliminary
Enquiries

Investigations
(excluding Leniency)

Leniency

Notifications*

Confidential
Advice

Appeals

Competition
Advisories

Market Studies

TOTAL

CCCS ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021

OVERVIEW OF
COMPLETED CASES

STATUS AS AT 31 MARCH 2021

SINCE CCCS STARTED
(1 JANUARY 2005)

146

52

33

125

19

12

233

27

647

*Notifications include Notifications for Guidance or Decision, Merger Notifications Phase 1, and Merger Notifications Phase 2

CONSUMER
PROTECTION

SINCE 9 DEC 2016
40

15

56
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CCCS INFRINGEMENT
DECISIONS TO DATE

To date, CCCS has issued 18 infringement decisions and imposed financial penalties
of over S$73.1 million for anti-competitive conduct.

Information and

Communications Manufacturing

Other

Elngiusr:lr;?:t Services FINANCIAL YEAR : INFRINGEMENT DECISION CASE : PROHIBITION : FINANCIAL PENALTY
°"° Activities COMPLETED : : : IMPOSED*
N Pest Control Operators Section 34 $262,759.66
‘ FY2009 Express Bus Services Section 34 $1,135,170.00
CO M P LETE D Ticketing Service Provider Section 47 $769,000.00
Electrical Works Section 34 $187,592.94
INVESTIGATIONS Real Estate : : :
Activities FY2011 ! Maid Agencies : Section 34 : $152,563.00
(EXC LU D I N G LE N I E N CY) Modelling Agencies Section 34 $313,606.00
BY INDUSTRY (FY2018_20) Ferry Operators Section 34 $286,766.00
§ Motor Traders : Section 34 : $179,071.00
FY2014 Freight Forwarders Section 34 $7,150,852.00
Everl Ball Bearing Manufacturers Section 34 $6,515,450.00
Orgaxis';tion Lift Spare Parts
: Financial Advisers : Section 34 : $909,302.00
FY2017 . Electrical and Asset Tagging Services Section 34 $626,118.00
Capacitor Manufacturers Section 34 $19,552,464.00
Fresh Chicken Distributors Section 34 $20,116,163.00
Ride-hailing Firms Section 54 $13,001,702.00
Hotels . Section34 $1,522,354.00
FY2020 Building, Construction Section 34 $32,098.00
and Maintenance Services : :
666 673 Maintenance Services for Swimming Pools Section 34 $419,014.00"
N U M B E R O F and Water Features : :

COMPLAINTS

HANDLED

*Taking into account any reduction after appeals

330
“Tentative as appeal is on-going

210 237

FY 2016 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2019 FY 2020
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CCCS enforces the competition and consumer protection
laws to ensure businesses compete on a level playing field
and to protect consumers’ interests.
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g Merger Control i

IN THE CLEAR: MERGER OF DIALYSIS SERVICE PROVIDERS

29 MAY 2020

CCCS has approved the proposed acquisition of
RenalTeam Pte. Ltd. (“RT") by Fresenius Medical Care
Singapore Pte. Ltd. (“FMC SG”) after concluding that it will
not result in substantially lessened competition within the
relevant markets in Singapore.

Both FMC SG and RT operate private dialysis
centres providing dialysis treatment, in
particular haemodialysis (“HD”), to End Stage
Renal Disease patients. Although a merger of
the two companies will result in the largest
market player in Singapore, CCCS noted

that the barriers to entry and expansion are
unlikely to be high, and hence allow potential
and existing HD service providers to compete
with the merged entity by establishing new
dialysis centres or providing outsourced HD
services.

ON THE RIGHT TRACK:

Patients are also able to easily switch between dialysis
providers as alternative HD service providers with spare
capacity are present in Singapore, as well as in the areas
where FMC SG’s and RT's dialysis centres are located.

CCCS also assessed that price coordination
or collusion among the merged entity and
competitors is unlikely, as it is discouraged
by new competitors in the market and the
potential growth in demand for HD services.

These factors mean that the merged entity
will continue to face competition.

The assessment involved a two-week
public consultation and engagement with
government agencies as well as relevant
stakeholders.

MERGER OF MOBILITY SOLUTIONS PROVIDERS

14 AUGUST 2020

CCCS has approved the proposed acquisition of
Bombardier Transportation (Investment) UK Ltd
(“Bombardier Transportation”) by Alstom S.A. (“Alstom”)
after concluding an assessment that involved a two-
week public consultation and engagement with key
stakeholders including the Land Transport Authority of
Singapore (“LTA”) and operators of Mass Rapid Transit
(“MRT”) lines in Singapore.

Both Alstom and Bombardier Transportation provide
mobility solutions for Singapore’s urban transport systems
by supplying trains, urban signalling systems and other
services including maintenance, repair services and spare
parts.

In its assessment, CCCS considered the relevant markets
of the supply of trains and urban signalling systems for
MRT lines in Singapore. LTA is the sole customer of these
goods and services, which it procures through open
tenders, and its countervailing buyer power could serve to
constrain the merged entity’s ability to raise prices.

An analysis of tenders over the last decade also revealed
that several other suppliers had won or participated in

these tenders more often than Alstom and Bombardier
Transportation had. Their presence indicates that Alstom
and Bombardier Transportation are unlikely to be each
other’s closest competitor; existing and potential suppliers
are therefore also likely to constrain the merged entity’s
ability to raise prices.

Furthermore, as Bombardier Transportation has not won any
tenders for the supply of urban signalling systems, it does
not have any market share. Thus, the proposed acquisition
will not result in an increase in combined market share.

In view of the findings, CCCS assessed that sufficient
competition would likely continue after the acquisition. M
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SMOOTH SAILING FOR PROPOSED
MERGER OF KOREAN SHIPBUILDERS

25 AUGUST 2020

After an in-depth review, CCCS has cleared the proposed
merger between Korea Shipbuilding & Marine Engineering
Co.,, Ltd (“KSOE”) and Daewoo Shipbuilding & Marine
Engineering Co,, Ltd. (‘DSME”).

CCCS had initially raised competition concerns after
completing its preliminary review of the proposed merger
between KSOE and DSME, shipbuilding companies

that supply commercial vessels such as oil tankers,
containerships, liquified natural gas (“LNG”) carriers and
liquefied petroleum gas (“‘LPG”) carriers. CCCS then
commenced an in-depth review. In its entire merger
assessment, CCCS conducted two public consultation
exercises and engaged with 157 stakeholders as well as
various government agencies.

CCCS found that barriers to entry and expansion are high,
particularly for new suppliers. For instance, a high level

of technical expertise is needed for sophisticated vessel
types such as LNG carriers and LPG carriers. Within vessel

g Merger Control iy

types, barriers to entry and expansion are also higher for
the construction of larger vessel classes due to physical
constraints in dock size and equipment required. While
customers do purchase vessels from multiple suppliers, it is
not evident that they possess buyer power that constrains
the merged entity’s market power. KSOE and DSME are
also close competitors and main global suppliers of the
largest class of oil tankers and LNG carriers.

However, CCCS found that the presence of viable
alternative suppliers with excess capacities would be able
to accommodate consumer-switching in the event that
the merged entity increases prices. An examination of
KSOE'’s and DSME's historical bidding data also suggested
that other close competitors do constrain the companies’
bid prices. Customers also play a factor in limiting price
collusion: private negotiations between shipbuilders

and customers limit price transparency, and customers
form their own perceptions in assessing the quality and
experience of shipbuilders.

READING THE NUMBERS: CONDITIONAL APPROVAL FOR
MERGER OF INDEX LICENSING SERVICE PROVIDERS

24 MAY 2021

Following a preliminary review which concluded on

2 July 2020, CCCS raised concerns on the proposed
acquisition of Refinitiv Holdings Limited (“Refinitiv”)

by London Stock Exchange Group plc (“‘LSEG”). An
in-depth review was initiated on 31 August 2020, after
which LSEG proposed a set of commitments to address
CCCS’s competition concerns. CCCS commenced a
public consultation on the proposed commitments on 27
January 2021.

Both LSEG and Refinitiv supply
fixed income index licensing
services to customers in Singapore.
They are also linked by the inputs
that they provide on a number

of product categories, including
clearing services and financial
information products.

CCCS noted concerns from third parties about
continued access to Refinitiv's WM/Reuters foreign
exchange benchmarks (“WM/R FX benchmarks”), which
are considered critical inputs - with no reasonable
substitutes - for index licensing and derivatives clearing
services. This was identified as a competition concern, as
the acquisition may reduce the merged entity’s incentive
to continue supplying these inputs to rival providers.

LSEG addressed these concerns with a set of
commitments, which included, among others, making the
WM/R FX benchmarks available to all existing and future
(a) customers for the purpose of providing index licensing
services from Singapore or to users in Singapore and (b)
clearing houses for the purpose of providing clearing
services in Singapore or to serve customers in Singapore.
CCCS accepted the commitments and granted
conditional approval of the acquisition.
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g Competition Enforcement

NO MONKEY BUSINESS: THREE CONTRACTORS

PENALISED FOR BID RIGGING

4 JUNE 2020

On 4 June 2020, CCCS issued an Infringement Decision
against three companies who were found to have rigged
the bids for the provision of building, construction and
maintenance services in procurement processes called by
Wildlife Reserves Singapore (“WRS”). Financial penalties
amounting to a total of $$32,098 were imposed on Shin
Yong Construction Pte. Ltd., Geoscapes Pte. Ltd. and Hong
Power Engineering Pte. Ltd.

A complaint from WRS in April 2016 led to the
commencement of an investigation into allegations of bid
rigging of civil and electrical works for WRS'’s attractions.
CCCS found that representatives of the companies had
exchanged bid information and coordinated their bids.
This behaviour resulted in a distortion of the competitive
bidding process and prevented WRS from obtaining the
best prices for their tenders.

CCCS had issued the companies a Proposed Infringement
Decision on 21 January 2020, but none of them submitted
any responses or objections.

66

WRS has built various preventive
measures into our procurement policy
to both protect the organisation

and ensure there is a level playing
field for vendors. ... These measures
are supported by an active whistle-
blower policy that is shared with
everyone we work with.”

"I7) Ms Kelly Chew
Director, Procurement
Wildlife Reserves Singapore

In addition to barring the companies from bidding for any
future projects, WRS has taken other steps to protect itself
from similar anti-competitive activities. These include
centralising the handling of tenders and defaulting to the
calling of open tenders so that new and existing vendors

can participate.

3 firms fined $32,000
for colluding to rig
bids for WRS projects

Charmaine Ng

Three construction companies
were found to have colluded to rig
the bids for eight tenders and quo-
tations called by Wildlife Reserves
Singapore (WRS), said the Comperi-
tion and Consumer Commission of
Singapore (CCCS) yesterday.

Shin Yong Construction, Geo-
scapes and Hong Power Engineer-
ing had exchanged information
and coordinated their bids for the
WRS quotations between July 1,
2015, and Oct é, 2016,

They were fined a total of
%32,098 for infringing Section 34
of the Competition Act, said COCS,

Geoscapes was fined 519,739,
Shin Yong Construction 87,148 and
Hong Power Engineering $5,211.

CCCS said in a statement that it
launched an investigation into the
three companies after WRS submi-
teda complainton Aug 28, 2015,

WRS had received e-mails from
an anonymous complainant on
Aug17 and 27 that year alleging rig-

gingof bids for its renovation, main-
tenance and construction projects.

Simultaneous inspections were
conducted on Oct 6, 2016, at the
premises of the three firms as well
as atother WRS vendors.,

Interviews were also held on site
with Shin Yong project manager
Toh Yong Soon, Geoscapes owner
and director Koh Kian Hee, and
Hong Power owner Tan Chuan
Hong, said CCCS.

Two former employees of WRS
were also interviewed by CCCS,
but were not identified.

Shartly after the inspections, all
three companies applied for le-
niency under a CCCS programme
that provides for such in return for
cartel members’ cooperation in

giving information and evidence of

their activities. They admitted o
colluding to rig bids in the quota-
tions called ' WRS.

Meanwhile, WRS barred the
firms from bidding for any of its
projects.

Om Jan 21 this year, CCCSissueda
proposed infringement decision to

the three firms, None submitted
written representations to CCCS.
CCCS chief executive Sia Aik Kor
said bid rigging is one of the most
harmful types of anti-competitive
conduct as it eliminates the pres-

sure on suppliers to submit their
bestoffers toa customer.
She added that customers have

animportant role toplay in protect-
ing themselves against bid rigging.

“While any customer can be a
victim of bid rigging, customers can
protect themselves by spotting
suspicious bids. Customers should
study the bid submissions carefully
to see if the bids submitred by sup-
pliersare independent,” she said.

Ms Kelly Chew, director of pro-
curement at WRS, said the organi-
sation has taken steps to protect it-
self from such anti-competitive ac-
tivities in the future.

“These include centralising the
handling of tenders, defaulting to
the calling of open tenders to en-
courage more vendors, including
newones, 1o participate, and ensur-
ing goods and services are deliv-
ered in line with the tender specifi-
cations,”she said, adding that WRS
has an active whistle-blower policy
shared with those they work with,

With this case, CCCS has issued a
totalof five infringement decisions
against companies for bid rigging.
Motor vehicle traders and pest
control companies were involved
in previows cases,

ngxte@sph.com.sg

Source: The Straits Times © Singapore Press Holdings Limited.
Reprinted with permission.
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IN DEEP WATER: THREE BUSINESSES PENALISED

FOR BID RIGGING

14 DECEMBER 2020

On 14 December 2020, CCCS issued an Infringement
Decision against three companies for rigging their bids

in tenders for the provision of maintenance services for
swimming pools, spas, fountains and other water features
to privately-owned developments in Singapore. Financial
penalties amounting to a total of S$419,014 were imposed
on CU Water Services Pte. Ltd. (“CU Water”), Crystalene
Product (S) Pte. Ltd. (“Crystalene”) and Crystal Clear
Contractor Pte. Ltd. (“Crystal Clear”).

CCCS's investigations, which commenced in September
2017, revealed instances of bid rigging conduct that
took place from 2008 to 2017 between CU Water and
Crystalene, and separately, CU Water and Crystal Clear.
The companies had engaged in a systematic pattern

where one company would request a supporting quotation

from the other. Often, the price of a supporting quotation
was specified to the requested company and intended to
be higher than the requesting company’s own bid. In some
instances, the bids were rigged through an understanding
between the companies that one would not quote lower
than the incumbent contractor. The non-incumbent would
approach the incumbent to ask for a price to quote and
provide a supporting quotation that it believed was higher
than the quote of the incumbent.

3 water feature maintenance

Such conduct meant that there was no competitive
pressure on the companies to submit their best offers to
potential customers. As a result, potential customers were
not able to obtain competitive offers that could best meet
their requirements.

In levying financial penalties, CCCS had applied discounts
to reduce the financial penalties of Crystalene and Crystal
Clear on account of their leniency applications, their
admissions to the infringing conduct and their cooperation
under the Fast Track Procedure. B

6

Tenderers must independently

prepare their bids. Any business that is
approached to join in anti-competitive
agreements should immediately reject

the approach and publicly distance
itself from any such discussions.”

Ms Sia Aik Kor

Chief Executive
Competition and Consumer
Commission of Singapore

rangements betws

firms fined over bid rigging

/ Cartel-style activity over nearly a decade
concerns 521 contracts and 220 customers

Cheryl Teh

like the Shangri-la ¢
spehorne Waterfront,

he m

ntains andath
developments s

HARMFUL BEHAVIOUR

v Bidrigging isoneof the

" mostharmful types of

. anti-competitiveconduct

" asitdistortsthe

“  competitive bidding

o process, thereby
preventing customers

* fromgettingthe bestvalue "
for their tenders. .

edthelr financial penalty.

tienlig

B Source: The Straits Times © Singapore Press Holdings Limited. Reprinted with permission.

CCCS ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021

WHAT IS BID RIGGING?

Two or more suppliers/purchasers collude on bid submission for tenders. They may take turns to win a tender by
agreeing on terms in a bid submission, or not participate in certain tenders after agreeing on who should win the tender.

Impact? Suppliers do not genuinely compete, resulting in customers not getting the best offers which
a competitive process should provide.

r . WATCH OUT FOR SIGNS OF POSSIBLE BID RIGGING

Similarities Odd Price ‘Fishy’ Business
} in Bids < } Differences < } Behaviour 4

+ Same text errors in bid documents + Unexplained bid price » Successful bidder
increase from the same subcontracts to losing
bidder as compared to suppliers that submitted

past similar tenders higher bids

+ Same text when one would expect
the text to be different

- Different bid submissions created by

the same author + Large price differences - Bidders suggest they

between winning and know competing
losing bids with little bidders’ prices or
difference in quality identities

-+ Bids submitted from same IP address

- |Insufficient details submitted for
tender evaluation

- Research the industry, including suppliers, goods & services, prices and trends

e]V] o] ¢
TIPS FOR
TENDER
DESIGN

 Avoid unnecessary tender restrictions, so as to allow more suppliers to participate
- Define requirements clearly, specify desired outcomes

- Require bidders to declare any relationships with entities that may be competing
bidders, and that bids submitted were determined independently

+ Include a warning to bidders about the penalties for bid rigging

> 21 4
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THE VALUE OF CHANGE: CCCS CONCLUDES
INVESTIGATION INTO THE SINGAPORE
INSTITUTE OF SURVEYORS AND VALUERS

9 APRIL 2020

CCCS has concluded its investigation into alleged
anti-competitive conduct by the Singapore Institute of
Surveyors and Valuers (“SISV”) in light of SISV taking steps
to address these concerns.

SISV is an industry body that comprises and represents,
among others, land surveyors, quantity surveyors and
valuers in Singapore.

The investigation, which was triggered by a complaint,
found that SISV’s byelaws contained provisions that
could lead to an adverse impact on competition. For
example, a byelaw prohibited SISV members from
competing on the basis of fees. This not only restricted
the manner in which SISV members could compete with
each other, but also limited customers’ choice. In CCCS'’s

engagement with them, industry stakeholders had also
revealed their uncertainty about SISV’s position on the
use of IT and computer modelling in property valuations.

SISV responded with measures aimed at fostering
competition and embracing technology. Of note, it
removed and amended the provisions that had triggered
the competition concerns. It also issued a press release
dated 10 December 2019, in which it recognised that
automated valuation models (“AVMs”) could facilitate
pricing transparency for the public and enhance the
efficiency and productivity of property professionals. On
23 December 2019, SISV encouraged members who are
valuers to use tools such as IT and computer modelling
or AVMs to assist them in performing valuations. M
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FOOD FOR THOUGHT: INVESTIGATING THE ONLINE
FOOD DELIVERY AND VIRTUAL KITCHEN SECTORS

5 AUGUST 2020

CCCS has concluded its investigation into the online
food delivery and virtual kitchen sectors following the
cessation of anti-competitive conduct from some of the
market players.

Virtual kitchens are commercial kitchen spaces
provided to food and beverage (“F&B”) operators for
food preparation, predominantly for online food delivery
services. In recent years, Singapore’s three main online
food delivery providers — Deliveroo, Foodpanda and
GrabFood - have started to provide virtual kitchens to
F&B operators, who are able to access their respective
online food delivery services. Smart City Kitchens
(“SCK”), which also provides virtual kitchens to various
F&B operators, does not operate an online food delivery

service. Hence, it relies on the main online food delivery
service providers to fulfil its online orders.

CCCS investigated conduct involving the refusal to
supply online food delivery services to F&B operators
using SCK’s virtual kitchens. Following the investigation,
GrabFood and Deliveroo have voluntarily started
supplying their online food delivery services to F&B
operators in SCK’s virtual kitchens which already have
access to Foodpanda’s online food delivery service.

Access to online food delivery services enables F&B
operators to expand their customer reach, increasing
competition in the market. As a result, consumers are
able to enjoy a greater variety of choices and offers. Ml

Watchdog halts

probe into food
delivery sectors

CCCSsays Deliveroo, GrabFood both opened up services
to Smart City Kitchens' eateries after investigation began

Ng Keng Gene

Singapore’s competition watchdog
has ceased investigations into the
online food delivery and virtual
kitchen sectors, a move prompted
by a shared kitchen operator’s com-
plaint in July last year that it had
been shut out by Deliveroo and
GrabFood.

After the Competition and Con-
sumer Commission of Singapore

(CCCS) started its probe, both food
delivery operators opened up their
E 5 to eateries using the facili
tiesof Smart City Kitchens.

Deliveroo said yesterday it began
doing so more than three months
ago, while GrabFood said it had be-
gun doing so in January.

Yesterday, the commission said
that although the investigation has
ceased, it will continue to monitor
the conduct of market players in
the online food delivery and virtual

kitchen sectors.

Virtual kitchens, also called ghost
or cloud kitchens, are shared com-
mercial kitchen spaces provided to
food and beverage (F&B) operators
for food preparation, predominantly
foronline food delivery services.

In July last year, Smart City
Kitchens appealed to CCCS to “help
level the playing field” after being
shutout by the two food delivery op-
erators just weeks after starting its
business.

Smart City Kitchens opened its
first facility in Tampines in June last
year. It houses 30 individual
kitchens that are rented out to F&B
operators for food deliveries.

As it is not affiliated wil
ery service, its tenants ha
on the main online food de
vice providers: GrabFood, Deliveroo
and Foodpanda.

Amonth after the facility opened,
its tenants told The Straits Times
that Deliveroo and GrabFood,
which had initially agreed to list
them on their respective apps, had
changed their minds. The duo cited
the tenants' landlord as the reason.

In addition to providing delivery
services, Deliveroo operates three
shared kitchens of its own, while
GrabFood launched a kitchen space
in January, and Foodpanda has one
kitchen.

B Source: The Straits Times © Singapore Press Holdings Limited. Reprinted with permission.
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BETTERUNDERSTANDING

We have had
constructive
discussions with
Smart City Kitchens
and now have a better
understanding of its
model and objectives
and this has,inturn,
led us torevisit our
position onworking
with them.

ADELIVEROODSPOKESMAN explaining its
decision towork with Smart City's eateries

CCCS said its investigation,
which began on Sept 30 last year, in-
cluded the refusal of food delivery
providers to supply online delivery
services to operators using Smart
City'svirtual kitchens,

Tradded that following its investi-
gation, GrabFood and Deliveroo
started supplying their online food

delivery services to operators in
Smart City’s facilities, thus giving
the tenants “the choice of using mul-
tiple online food delivery providers
toexpand their consumer reach”,

A Deliveroo spokesman, in ex-
plaining its decision to work with
Smart City’s restaurants, said yes-
terday: “We have had constructive
discussions  with Smart  City
Kitchens and now have a better un-
derstanding of its model and objec-
tives and this has, in turn, led us to
revisit our position on working with
them,” he said.

GrabFood Singapore head Dilip
Roussenaly said in January thar al-
though the company was contribut-
ing to the investigation process, it
was not the subject of the probe. He
also said then that GrabFood had be
gun working with some of Smart
City's tenants.

CCCS added that before the
probe, the operators had access to
Foodpanda’s services. It also noted
that competition in the virrual
kitchen sector remains dynamic,
with players entering and compet-
ing for market share.

Smart City Kitchens, whose web-
site shows it operates five virtual
kitchens in Singapore, did not re-
spond by press time.,

kenggene@sph.com.sg
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GETTING THE GREEN LIGHT: CCCS RELEASES
DIRECTIONS ON GRAB FOLLOWING COMMENCEMENT
OF P2P REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

20 NOVEMBER 2020

CCCS has released the directions it had imposed on
ride-hailing firm Grab on 24 September 2018. The
decision was reached in view of the commencement

of the Point-To-Point Transport Regulatory Framework
(“P2P Regulatory Framework”) administered by the Land
Transport Authority (“LTA”) and the Public Transport
Council (“PTC"). The framework, which took effect on 30
October 2020, ensures that all licensed operators cannot
prevent their drivers from driving for other operators.

In March 2018, CCCS had issued an Infringement
Decision against Grab and Uber for their anti-competitive
merger, which saw the sale of Uber’s Southeast Asian
business to Grab for a 27.5% stake in Grab. CCCS also
issued directions to both firms to lessen the impact of the

merger on drivers and riders, and to keep an open and
contestable market.

Under the P2P Regulatory Framework, several companies,
including Gojek, ComfortDelgro and Ryde, have been
awarded operator licences; other existing taxi operators
have also been issued limited licences to provide call
booking services. There are a number of players in the
P2P sector and the framework ensures that the P2P fares
transparent and clearly communicated to commuters,
with fare levels being determined by market forces.

CCCS will continue to work with LTA and PTC to ensure
an open and contestable P2P market.

> 24 <
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RED LIGHT FOR UBER'S APPEAL AGAINST

INFRINGEMENT DECISION

13 JANUARY 2021

The Competition Appeal Board (“CAB”) has dismissed
ride-hailing firm Uber's appeal against the Infringement
Decision issued by CCCS that Uber’s sale of its Southeast
Asian businesses to Grab for a 27.5% stake in Grab
substantially lessened competition within the ride-hailing
platform market in Singapore.

The Infringement Decision, which was issued in March
2018, imposed financial penalties on both Grab and Uber,
and also set out Directions to both firms to reduce the
impact of the merger on drivers and riders, and to keep the
market open to new players. Subsequently, Uber appealed
to the CAB, seeking to either set aside the Infringement
Decision or have the financial penalty reduced.

While Singapore’s voluntary notification merger regime
does not mandate that parties notify CCCS of their
mergers, those who do go ahead with implementing a
merger without first notifying CCCS run not just the risk of
infringing the Competition Act, but also the risk of CCCS
rejecting any of their subsequent commitments to remedy
the situation as inadequate or inappropriate.

Noting this, the CAB held that CCCS could consider

the need to deter businesses from engaging in anti-
competitive practices in deciding whether to accept
commitments, even if the commitments would sufficiently
remedy or prevent substantially lessened competition
arising from the merger. B
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CCCS reiterates rules to
Grab and Gojek after Uber’s
S$$6.58m fine is upheld

By Sharanya Pillai
hspillai@sph.com.sg
@SharanyaBT

Singapore
THE Competition Appeal Board (CAB)
has dismissed Uber's appeal against
the finding that the ride-hailing firm’s
March 2018 merger with Grab was
anti-competitive.

Uber will thus have to pay the
556.58 million fine that the Competi-
tion and Consumer Commission of
Singapore (CCCS) had imposed back
in 2018. The US-based firm was also
ordered to pay CCCS costs for the ap-
peal.

An Uber spokesperson told BT:
"We have received the ruling and are
reviewing it."

In a separate statement on Wed
nesday, the CCCS said that it contin-
ues o monitor any potential merger
between Grab and Gojek, and reiter-
ated that it has the power to take ac-
tion against anti-competitive deals.

Should a Grab-Gojek merger
breach competition law, the CCCS
can issue directions and “impose fin
ancial penalties as it did in relation to
the merger between Grab and Uber”,
the watchdog said.

Back in September 2018, the CCCS
had found that Uber's sale of its
South-east Asian business to Grab, in
exchange for a 27.5 per cent stake in
the Singapore-based firm, had led toa
“substantial lessening of competi-
tion” in the city-state’s ride-hailing
sector.

Grab did not contest the decision
and paid a 586.42 million penalty,
Uber appealed to the CAB to either set
aside the decision or to reduce the
penalty imposed.

However, in a decision made on
Dec 29, the CAE upheld the fine on
Uber, as well as directions that the
CCCS had issued to Uber and Grab to
lessen the impact of the merger on
drivers, riders and the openness of
the ride-halling market to new play-
ers.

The board noted in its published
decision: "The evidence suggested
that the merger parties were aware or
ought to have been aware that there
were competition concerns with the
transaction.”

Gojek’s entry into the Singapore
market “has not been sufficient” to re-
store the substantial lessening of
competition from the Uber-Grab deal,
it added, Prior to the deal, Grab and
Uber's combined market share was
more than five times that of Com-
fortDelGro, the next biggest plaver.

It can also be inferred that Grab

had “deeper pockets™ to maintain
competitive advantages from the mer-

ger.

Evidence from after the CCCS' de-
cision “shows that Gojek’s entry has
not been sufficient in scope to
provide a sufficient competitive con
straint on Grab”, the CAB said.

Grab's reduction in rider dis
counts had also intensified from end-
March to end-July 2018, “suggesting
that it was at least contributed to in
part by the reduction of competition
brought about by the transaction”,
the board said.

While Singapore has a voluntary
notification merger regime, this does
not mean that there are no risks to go
ing ahead with a merger before notify
ing CCCS, it added.

In situations where the merger is ir-
reversible, as was the case with Uber,
the parties may also further risk that
any commitments they offer sub-
sequently to remedy or mitigate the
situation may be rejected by the
CCCS as inadequate or inappropriate,

The appeal board further held that
in deciding whether to accept com
mitments, the CCCS can consider the
need to deter businesses from enga-
ging in anti-competitive practices
and decide instead to issue directions
to the merger parties, including finan-
cial penalties.

MNotably, the CAB said that CCCS
can do so even if the commitments
offered by the parties are in fact suffi-
cient to remedy or prevent any sub-
stantial lessening of competition
arising from the merger,

CCCS chief executive Sia Aik Kor
said: “The CAR's decision affirms the
key findings made by CCCS in the in-
fringement decision and reinforces
the message that mergers that sub-
stantially lessen competition in Singa.
pore are prohibited.”

“Singapore's voluntary notifica
tion merger regime 1o strike a
balance between safeguarding com-
petition and being pro-business.”

In its Wednesday statement, the
CCCS added that it is “actively monit-
oring the potential merger reported
in the news” of Grab and Gojek.

Media reports last year indicated
that both firms were discussing a mer-
ger. On Jan 5, however, Bloomberg re-
ported that Gojek is now exploring a
merger with Indonesia’s Tokopedia.

MNevertheless, the watchdog said
that it has sought further information
from Grab and Gojek, and high-
lighted “the avenue available to the
parties to seek clearance from CCCS”,

Both Grab and Gojek declined to
comment,

Source: The Business Times © Singapore Press

Holdings Limited. Reprinted with permission.
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A SURE SIGN: RETAIL OUTLETS CEASE
MISLEADING SALE ADVERTISEMENTS

16 OCTOBER 2020

As of 30 September 2020, the owners and operators

of ABC Bargain Centre, Valu$ and ABC Express have
voluntarily ceased the use of advertisements containing
the language “Closing Down Sale” and “Fire Sale” at all
retail outlets.

Such advertisements convey the impression that the
discounted prices will only be available for a limited period
due to impending closure of the business. However, the
advertisements at these retail outlets were displayed
continuously and without any indication of an end date.
This can lead customers to believe that there is a price
benefit or a limited availability of goods when there is
neither. CCCS considers misleading advertisements an
unfair practice in breach of the Consumer Protection (Fair
Trading) Act (“CPFTA”).

The owners and operators of the outlets undertook to
remove the advertisements and to not falsely advertise

‘ Consumer Protection Enforcement .

w

products as being available at a discounted price when no
genuine price benefit or advantage exists.

CCCS accepted these undertakings, noting that efforts
were taken to co-operate and ensure that advertising
practices were compliant with the CPFTA.
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A DONE DEAL: EXPEDIA SINGAPORE STOPS FALSE

“DAILY DEALS” PROMOTIONS

12 NOVEMBER 2020

Watchdog warns Expedia site
operator over false claims

Wong Shiying

The website operator of onlineg
travel company Expedia Singapore
- BEX Travel Asia - has ceased its
false claims on the validity period of
its “Daily Deals™ promotions and
said vesterday that it will not en-
gage in further unfair practices.
This comes after awarning yester-
day from the Competition and Con-
sumer Commission of Singapore
(CCCS) that misleading consumers
insuchamanner constitutes an un-
fair practice in breach of the Con-

sumer Protection (Fair Trading)
Act (CPFTA)

The consumer watchdog began
investigating BEX in April Last year,

CCCS found that there were at
least 55 “Daily Deals” offers on the
website, which claimed to expire at
1L.59pm each day but the prices re-
mained the same after midnight.

These misleading promotions in-
cluded hotel deals and holiday pack-
age deals whichwere offered onthe
Expedia Singapore website and e-
mailed to customers on BEX's mail-
ing list.

“Such false claims in relation 1o
promotional prices mislead con-

sumers into believing that there isa
price benefitwhich is available only
for a limited period, thus creating
unwarranted pressure or a sense of
urgency for consumers to make an
immediate purchase,” said CCCS.

BEX had used such false promo-
tional claims since 2016, but took
such listings down in October last
year while investigations were on-

OIngE.

BEX said yesterday that it willen-
sure that promotions on the Expe-
dia Singapore website will not
claim to be available for a limited pe-
riod ifthatisnot the case.

Also, it will not claim that promo-

tions are valid for a specific period  MISLEADING TOCONSUMERS are being monitored closely. It
ifthey may end before then. urged all businesses to review their
Inhaf‘dirion. it saiddil u;ill comply  Such falseclaimsin h':.!siness practices to comply with
with the CPFTA and take prompt & i the CPFTAL
steps to cease any unfair pl]::lC(iCES w!a“on ?OII!IHJJ!I'IMIOHN On Nov 1. the CCCS’ guidelines on
in breachof the Act. prices rice P v came into ef-
In response to queries from The  jnto believingthatthergis fect. They provide more clarity on
Straits  Times, an Expedia = PP what constitutes an infringement
spokesman said the company has a pr!Wbmeﬁt whlcl:. Is. of consumer protection laws, and
worked with the CCCS over the  availableonlyforalimited  ser out the factors and cireum-
past few]molmhim}impm\'ing how  period, thus creating smncsﬁ that the m]m\}lsls’l\on maﬁ
itstravel-related informartion is pre- consider in assessing if advertise
sented toconsumers. £ unwarranted pressure or prices and related prgtticts are po-
“We gave our commitment tothe @ Sense of urgency for tentially misleading,
CCCS on a voluntary basis that we  consumersto makean Under the Act, the CCCS is em-
will review our internal marketing A owered to investigate errant busi-
processes to ensure that we mng immediate purchase. gmacs and ﬁ!rannﬁuncnnn appli-
tinue to help customers book travel cation against them.
that meets their requirements and If they do not cease the unfair
provide all relevant information practice, the businesses can be
that customers need. The CCCSin coMPETITION AND CONSUMER charged with contempt of court,
turn, has closed its investigation  coMMISSION OF SINGAPORE which carries a fine of up to

into BEX Travel Asia,” said the
spokesman.

CCCS said other businesses that
engage in similar unfair practices

B Source: The Straits Times © Singapore Press Holdings Limited. Reprinted with permission.

$10,000, orup to a year's imprison-
ment, or both.

sywong@sph.comsg

BEX Travel Asia Pte Ltd (“BEX”), which operates the
Expedia Singapore website, has ceased its false claims and
unfair practices relating to the validity periods of its “Daily
Deals” promotions.

CCCS’s market monitoring efforts triggered an
investigation into the promotions being offered on

the website and in electronic mailers to subscribers.

BEX represented that its “Daily Hotel Deals” and “Daily
Package Deals” were valid for 24 hours only, and that

they would “change daily at 12:00 AM (Singapore Time)”.
However, at least 55 “Daily Deal” offers still reflected the
promotional price even after 11.59pm, contrary to what was
communicated to customers.

Such false claims create unwarranted pressure or a sense
of urgency for consumers to make an immediate purchase,
as they are under the impression that these price benefits
are available for a limited time only.

CCCS also found that some promotions had been

made available for a shorter time period than what was
represented. “Hot deals” that BEX purported to last for
24 hours had, in fact, expired in less than 24 hours. These
false claims took place since 2016 and had ceased as of
October 2019.

Following its investigation, CCCS administered a warning
to BEX and accepted BEX's undertaking to cease any
unfair practices that breach the Consumer Protection
(Fair Trading) Act and to co-operate with CCCS to ensure
compliance with the Act. B

DAILY DEALS!!
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CLARITY ON COLLABORATIONS: CCCS GUIDANCE NOTE A FAIR PRICE TO PAY: CCCS GUIDELINES

FOR BUSINESS COLLABORATIONS DURING COVID-19

20 JULY 2020

In light of the COVID-19 pandemic, CCCS has issued a
COVID-19 Guidance Note that sets out its approach to
collaborations between competitors in response to these
unprecedented times. This guidance provides businesses
with more clarity on such collaborations.

Global lockdowns and other pandemic response measures
have severely disrupted logistics and supply chains, with
companies facing uncertainties over demand. As a result,
companies may be required to temporarily and quickly
collaborate in order to sustain or improve the supply of
essential goods or services. For example, businesses may
agree to share production lines or inputs to produce more
testing kits to aid the healthcare sector.

Under normal circumstances, such collaborations may
require further assessment for net economic benefits.
However, given the exceptional nature of the pandemic,
CCCS will assume that collaborations that sustain or
improve the supply of essential goods or services in
Singapore, which are limited in scope and time as set

out in the COVID-19 Guidance Note, and which do not
involve price-fixing, bid-rigging, market sharing or output
limitation, are likely to generate net economic benefits and
thus unlikely to infringe the Competition Act. CCCS will
generally not investigate such collaborations.

The COVID-19 Guidance Note applies to collaborations
put in place from 1 February 2020, and which will expire

by 31 July 2021. Collaborations that only end after the
COVID-19 Guidance Note expires will be evaluated against
the criteria applicable under normal circumstances. l

Competition watchdog
allows tie-ups on essential
supplies during pandemic

By Vivienne Tay
viay@sph.com.sg
@vivienneTayBT

Singapore
THE Competition and Consumer Com-
mission of Singapore (CCCS) will “gen-
erally” not investigate certain collab-
orations between competitors when
it comes to the supply of essential
goods or services In Singapore, amid
the ongeing novel coronavirus out-
break.

These collaborations should sus-
tain or improve the supply of essen-
tial goods or services, be limited in
scope and time, and also not involve
price-fixing, bid-rigging, market shar-
ing or output limitation.

In a guidance note issued on
Monday, the competition watchdog
sabd that it will assume - for a tempar-
ary period - that such tie-ups are
“likely to generate net economic bene-
fits” and are therefore “unlikely” to in-
fringe the Competition Act,

This Covid-19 guidance note ap-
plies 1o such collaborations which
commence from Feb 1, 2020 and ex-
pire by July 31, 2021.

For collaborations that end after
July 31, 2021, CCCS will evaluate
them using the criteria applicable un
der normal circum: es, for thei
entire duration. That is, CCCS will as-
sess whether it raises competition
concerns and if so, whether the tie-up
fulfils the criteria of generating net
economic benefits in normal circum:
stances,

The competition watchdog on
Monday noted that the disruption
arising from the pandemic may re
quire companies to temporarily col
laborate to sustain or improve the
supply of essential goods or services.

“Such collaborations may need to
be put in place quickly during this
period,” CCCS said, Under normal cir-
cumstances, some of these partner-
ships would have required further as-
sessment for net economic benefits,

An example of a collaboration that
can fall under the latest guidance
note would be where businesses
agree to share production lines or in

The competition
watchdog said that it
will assume — for a
temporary period —
that such tie-ups are
“likely to generate net
cconomic benefits”
and are therefore
“unlikely” to infringe
the Competition Act.

puts te increase the total production
of Covid-19 testing kits or its compon-
ents,

Agreements, including collabora
tions, which satisfy the neteco
nomic-benefits criteria under the
Competition Act in normal circum-
stances are already excluded from
Section 34 of the Act, thus they do not
need to come under the Covid-19
guidance note.

Similarly, agreements entered into
with, or on behalf of, the Singapaore
government or any statutory body
are already excluded under Section
33(4) of the Act.

CCCS encouraged businesses to
perform their own assessment first to
determine whether their collabora
tion falls within the framework set
out in the guidance note,

Those that wish to collaborate on
essential goods and services but have
queries may contact CCCS for clarific-
ation at coos_feedback@oces. gov.sg.

However, the competition watch
dog cautioned businesses against tak-
ing advantage of the coronavirus pan-
demic "as a cover 1o engage in anti
competitive activities that do not gen
erate net economic benefits™. CCCS re-
tains the discretion to investigate
such cases,

More information on the Covid-19
guidance note can be accessed and
downloaded from the CCCS website
under the section "Competition Act
and Guidelines”,

Source: The Business Times © Singapore Press
Holdings Limited. Reprinted with permission.

o

ON PRICE TRANSPARENCY

7 SEPTEMBER 2020
- s : . Consumer
Gu ldE] mes Stamping out fake discounts P
L. and hidden add-on fees Ipmt‘—cud(‘"
— aws under
ONPIICING s mpsimmemeommgats |l
" T U N
praCtlceS Hileading g teos et more teeth
1 3 pricg comparisons  [ANtas" ) “free”
to kick in el e
charges o a or service as being free
gk il mxb_m‘ntlhm:h!w
On OV 1 E3 exampee Jianiion te prvide K.

Move to curb errant practices spells out actions
businesses must take so they don inge law

TilTiany Fumike Tay

False .

e
Advertising a

false discount off A

he wsual f
e e

E3 exampie

GUIDELINES

Tiftany Fumiko Tay

B Source: The Straits Times © Singapore Press Holdings Limited. Reprinted with permission.

CCCS has published its Guidelines on
Price Transparency, which examine four
key pricing practices that may mislead
customers and infringe the Consumer
Protection (Fair Trading) Act. To better
assist suppliers, the Guidelines set out
good practices that can help minimise
potential disputes with consumers and
recommends actions to ensure that prices
are accurate and communicated clearly.

Pricing Practice | Recommended Actions & Good Practices for Suppliers

Drip pricing

Suppliers should disclose any mandatory or unavoidable charges clearly and prominently. The

o o mandatory or unavoidable charges should be included in the headline price.

Suppliers are encouraged to use an “opt-in” or “opt-neutral” approach towards optional add-ons. This

enables consumers to actively select the options they want.

Price comparison = Suppliers should ensure goods or services used for price comparisons are similar or equivalent.
@ Vs @ Suppliers are encouraged to check the referenced price periodically and withdraw or amend the

comparison accordingly.
Discounts

Suppliers should ensure that all discounts and price benefits offered are genuine. For time-limited

discounts, suppliers should state the time period clearly and accurately to avoid misleading

consumers.

Suppliers are encouraged to keep records of past sales and prices to prove that the discounts given

were genuine.

Use of the
term “free”

Suppliers should clearly and prominently state any qualifiers, subsequent/deferred charges, and key
terms and conditions imposed on consumers when stating that the price of a good or service is SO

or “free”.
- For free trials, suppliers are encouraged to notify consumers before the trial period is over, and to
provide clear information on the cancellation process and any subsequent chargeable fees. B
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g Market Study §

THE DIGITAL FACE OF COMPETITION AND GOOD PRACTICES FOR SELLERS

CONSUMER PROTECTION: CCCS MARKET
STUDY ON E-COMMERCE PLATFORMS

10 SEPTEMBER 2020 SELL RESPONSIBLY. BUILD UP AND MAINTAIN
A SOLID REPUTATION AS A TRUSTED SELLER.

On 10 September 2020, CCCS published its findings these factors have encouraged e-commerce platforms to

from a market study on e-commerce platforms. The study implement measures that earn and maintain consumer « Include mandatory charges in the - State key terms and conditions (T&Cs) such

is part of CCCS’s efforts to monitor key developments trust, and also protect consumers from unfair practices. headline price. as warranties, shipping terms, refunds and

in the digital economy and understand their impact on CCCS’s findings are as follows: - [ Hhse dhereee Gemet 92 returns prominently and clearly.

competition and consumers in markets within Singapore. + Some e-commerce platforms have targeted measures ) ) . . "
to protect consumers against unfair practices. Examples calculated in advance, disclose the - Clearly display hyperlink to T&Cs where it is

Competition Findings and Recommendations include guarantee features or pre-payment protection existence of such charges together not possible to disclose such T&Cs upfront

CCCS found no major competition concerns involving measures for consumers, and a hon-compliance point with the headline price. due to space constraints.

e-commerce platforms in Singapore. CCCS also noted that system for sellers. °
its existing competition framework is robust enough to However, a survey indicated that unfair practices are g
address potential competition issues. Other findings include: still encountered by consumers. The most commonly
« Consumers check multiple platforms to find the best reported unfair practices are false claims of discounts

offers, and consider both price and non-price factors. or benefits and misrepresentations regarding limited

@?

e
4

E-payment services by e-commerce platforms are quantities. Be upfront.
unlikely to be a pre-requisite for a platform’s success in State the price Do not post or Provide key
Singapore. CCCS recommends that e-commerce platforms continue of goods and pay for fake information to

services clearly reviews. consumers.

and accurately.

The lack of data is not a critical barrier to entry for enhancing their consumer protection measures by raising
e-commerce platforms. sellers’ awareness and understanding of the Consumer
Data protection is not a key parameter of competition Protection (Fair Trading) Act and encouraging sellers to
amongst e-commerce platforms currently. adopt good trade practices. M

Ensure that
product
descriptions
are truthful
and accurate.

Ensure that R .
discounts and - :
the duration of
any discount
are true.

The market study also identified areas

where businesses operating in the digital 2 Ollt Of3 Online iWT

space could benefit from further clarity

and guiQance from QCQS. Therefqrfi‘y Shoppers

CCCS will be updating its competition

guidelin-es.to clarify the market definition el‘lc()llnter l.ll'lfail‘

for multi-sided platforms, the assessment <

of market power and abuse of dominance, practlces . Study 5 Monitor
and the assessment of mergers and ® - ¥ : * buyers’ queries
acquisitions. o o s oo - Do not make false claims or exaggerate and feedback.

False claims relating to discounts  and becemb T 0 what your products can do.
Consumer Protection Findings and or benefits among top complaints : v

Recommendations TMEny Fumiia Tay
E-commerce platforms play a key role

in safeguarding consumers’ interests. ; ? - State the condition of your products
Providing a good customer experience and d - elines il st o (e.9. new/used).

fostering trust are essential for success; ”

« Use true usual
prices when making
comparisons.

+ Keep records of past
sales and prices to show
that discounts are true.

- State time period of
discounts clearly.

» Be accurate, clear and precise in your

description of product features. » These provide an indication

of what may be potentially
misleading.

+ Identify and remove false or
» misleading claims in your product
: or price descriptions or key terms.

« Check that the country of origin,
functionalities and regulatory
approvals of your products are
truthfully stated on your listing.

The findings coincide with

aspurtinonline shopping ivedi c

amid the Covid-19 . b e 5000000000000000005600005000000605500650006000GEA0ABA000CAGAEO0GANIEACOGEIAENINACNOGAECEaNN0EAEEAGA0AaN0GARCAEANBIAEGAIAaNGERCAEEACAOAEOGAIEaEAOEAACNOCAECOEAEACEIGAAAN0CEECOBANBA0AEGAIORA00GEOCOAE000GI0 O
pandemicand its 2

restrictions, Tot

5 F .
ecommerceplatformsin ¢ : 2l , ; For more guidance on pricing practices to avoid potential infringements of the Consumer Protection
Singaporeduring the first i B d

halfoftheyeargrewby23 i new ways t “an - (Fair Trading) Act, refer to the CCCS Guidelines on Price Transparency at www.cccs.gov.sg

per cent, a study found.

Source: The Straits Times © Singapore Press Holdings Limited. Reprinted with permission.
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CCCS FIVE-YEAR STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK

The CCCS Five-Year Strategic Framework (FY2021 Set against a rising digital economy, these dynamic trends

to FY2025) sets out the broad directions that CCCS and issues will give rise to more complex market structures

will take to, among others, enhance relationships and conduct. There will also be more cross-cutting issues

and collaborations with its stakeholders to co-create that intersect between competition, consumer protection,

solutions that can overcome challenges of emerging and data privacy and protection. While cross-border

trends in the next five years. competition and consumer protection issues pose a rising
concern; domestically, businesses expect greater clarity

In developing this framework, CCCS engaged both from CCCS on how they can operate without contravening

internal and external stakeholders in an online competition and consumer protection laws.

conversation. Their active participation and valuable

contribution enabled CCCS to identify emerging These insights have helped CCCS to identify five

trends and issues and to assess how these will affect its Strategic Thrusts that will pave the way towards

operating environment. achieving its new Desired Outcomes of forging efficient
markets, conducive regulatory ecosystem, as well as an
excellent and nurturing organisation. M

CCCS FIVE-YEAR STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK

Vision: A vibrant economy with well-functioning and innovative markets

Mission: Making markets work well to create opportunities and choices for
businesses and consumers in Singapore

Regulatory Efficient
ecosystem that markets where Excellent and
facilitates open and suppliers compete on nurturing organisation
contestable markets, merit and consumers that is future-ready
and safeguards are able to make and has international
consumers’ well-informed

WO Q Kl N G P BIERE
WITH OUR

Desired
Outcomes

Strategic @ Enhancing the competition and
N [ enforcement regime to ensure they ‘ Strengthening ‘ Nurturing our
: remain relevant and robust in an evolving relationships with people, and

Thrusts : consumer protection regulatory and
economic and technological landscape key international transforming
‘ Shaping government initiatives and f::?ggzr ::(;omote ?C&S th tbe 17
CCCS works closely with other government agencies to . policies to address competition issues 9  ovel orthe future
: o : d safeguard consumers’ interests regional development
engage and advise them on competition matters. CCCS : an of competition and
also reaches out to a spectrum of stakeholders to promote ‘ Widening and deepening stakeholder consumer protection

engagements to foster a culture of

the awareness and understanding of competition and o - ) ;
competition and fair trading practices

consumer protection laws.
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CCCS-SAL CONFERENCE
2021: TRANSCENDING
BOUNDARIES

- COMPETITION LAW

IN A DIGITAL ERA

(>potlight

The CCCS-SAL Conference is a triennial flagship event
organised by CCCS and the Singapore Academy of Law
(“SAL”) to highlight key developments and emerging
trends in competition law and policy in Singapore.

The fifth run of the conference was held digitally as

a series of five webinars in March 2021, and featured
distinguished local and international competition
experts, including Emeritus Professor Richard Whish QC
and Professor Massimo Motta.

Session 1: Competition Law and Digital Platforms

Expert speakers discussed the business strategies of digital platforms and explored the roles and
responsibilities of digital platforms as “gatekeepers”. The speakers also examined the benefits
and competition concerns surrounding data collection and the competition law implications of
using algorithms.

Session 2: Harnessing and Protecting Data

- Intersection with Competition and Consumer Protection

This webinar touched on the various ways that digital-economy companies may harness data to
compete and better serve consumers. The speakers also discussed how data usage may create
tensions with antitrust and consumer data protection, and how the authorities may deal with data
issues in the marketplace.

Session 3: Mergers Assessment and Remedies in the Digital Economy

Speakers looked into issues that arise from the assessment of mergers in an era of digitalisation.
These include calculation of market shares, killer acquisitions, acquisition of data and network
effects, and the use of remedies to address concerns that could arise.

Session 4: Market Definition in a ‘Borderless’ Economy

This session examined the extent to which various factors may impact the definition of the
geographical market, including the locations of suppliers, customers, product delivery, service
performance, invoice, and procurement decision. The session also discussed geographic issues in
international transportation, digital platforms and international services.

Session 5: The Rise of the Digital Economy: Navigating Competition and Consumer
Protection Law Compliance and Enforcement Challenges

This webinar updated participants on the latest competition and consumer protection law developments
in Singapore and the world, in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic and the digital economy. It also
explored how businesses and practitioners can safely navigate these challenges and discussed the
future of international cooperation to address competition and consumer protection issues.
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CCCS-ESS ESSAY COMPETITION 2020

CCCS - ESS
ESSAY COMPETITION 2020

DEADLINE EXTENDED: 30 JUNE 2020

Free Market and Buyers Beware?
Where are we today and what is the optimal level of government
Iﬂterifenilon to protect competition and consumers in Singapore?

Categories: School e Open
ccdEE Of =

(19

Free Market and Buyers Beware?
Where are we today and what is
the optimal level of government
intervention to protect competition
and consumers in Singapore?

99

CCCS successfully concluded the 4th run of the CCCS-ESS
Essay Competition on 30 June 2020. A record-breaking

134 essays were received across the two categories (Open
and School). The judging panel comprised CCCS Chief
Executive, CCCS Board members and representatives from
the Economic Society of Singapore (“‘ESS”) and CCCS’s
Consumer Protection Resource Panel.

Essay Excerpt:

“Regulators have a responsibility to

ensure that firms provide consumers with
ample information about their product;

this is especially crucial given the policy
assumption of reasonably well-informed
consumers. [...] The digital economy
presents a range of novel definitional,
detection and enforcement problems

for governments where market failure is
concerned. However, the transition to a new
normal characterised by fast-moving, highly
networked markets can be managed with
carefully calibrated amendments to existing
legal and policy tools.”

\® Mr Goh Kyi Yeung (Columbia University)
Open Category - 1* Prize

Essay Excerpt:

“The digital economy, with the proliferation
of multi-sided markets where network
effects are present, has brought about an
additional consideration towards market
failure caused by mergers. [...] Hence,
when regulating mergers in the digital
economy, the government needs to weigh
the efficiency gains from network effects of
market failure post merger.”

\® Mr Lee Chong Dao, Joshua
& Mr Khaw Wei Yi, Joseph
(Recently completed National Service)
School Category - 1° Prize
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PROVIDING ADVICE TO GOVERNMENT AGENCIES

CCCS has a statutory duty to advise government
agencies on national needs and policies in respect of
competition matters. By understanding the competition
impact of their initiatives, government agencies can
better evaluate their proposals and explore alternative
policy options if necessary.

CCCS has advised on a wide range of competition issues
by assessing the impact of the proposed initiative on

competition in the affected markets, and where possible,
identifying ways to alleviate these competition concerns.

Advisory to NEA on its Beverage Container Take-back Scheme
The National Environment Agency (“NEA”) consulted CCCS on its plans to implement a

private car parks.

new beverage container take-back scheme in Singapore. The legislative framework for the
scheme will be introduced by 2022 as part of the first phase of the Extended Producer
Responsibility approach to manage packaging waste. Under this scheme, consumers will
pay a deposit when they purchase beverages, and this deposit will be refunded when the
empty beverage container is returned at specified points.

CCCS considered the competition impact of NEA’s plans and provided recommendations
on how NEA can mitigate potential competition concerns. Examples include advising
NEA to regularly review the parameters of the scheme framework to ensure that it does
not unnecessarily restrict competition, and to consider putting in place safeguards to
prevent the exchange of commercially sensitive information between industry players.
Additionally, CCCS recommended that NEA regularly review target(s) set (e.g. recycling)
and compliance costs to adapt to changing market conditions, and to ensure that the
regulations remain relevant to the industry.

Advice to URA on the development of a more competitive environment for the
deployment of electric vehicle (“EV”) charging infrastructure

With Singapore’s vision to phase out internal combustion engine vehicles and have all
vehicles run on cleaner energy by 2040, the development of charging infrastructure has
become an area of interest. In this regard, the Urban Redevelopment Authority consulted
CCCS on the design of its competitive pilot tenders for EV charging deployment in public
car parks and the creation of a more competitive environment for EV charging services in

To this end, CCCS provided guidance on how to design a competitive tender for

EV charging services in public car parks, including suggestions on how to (i) ensure
sufficiently-sized car park bundles; (ii) provide sufficient information to tenderers; (iii)
prevent EV charging operators from using market power to charge high prices; and

(iv) carry out good practices to deter bid rigging. CCCS also provided advice on how

to intensify competition for the supply of EV charging services in private car parks by
encouraging commercial building owners to carry out competitive tendering processes
and the implications of interoperability standards requirements.
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Review of the Competition (Block Exemption for
Liner Shipping Agreements) Order

On 26 August 2020, the Minister for Trade and Industry
extended the Competition (Block Exemption for Liner
Shipping Agreements) Order (“BEQ”) for one year until 31
December 2021.

The BEO exempts certain types of liner shipping
agreements (“LSAs”) from the prohibition against
anti-competitive agreements under section 34 of the
Competition Act (Cap. 50B), under specified conditions
and obligations.

The COVID-19 pandemic had resulted in contractions
in manufacturing and trade globally. Disruptions in

global supply chains and a dip in global demand had
created significant market uncertainties and affected
the outlook for the maritime sector internationally

and in Singapore. Given the highly uncertain times
brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic, and that the
prevalence and importance of LSAs may evolve arising
from the pandemic, it was necessary to account for such
developments in assessing the appropriate approach for
Singapore in the longer term.

CCCS supported the Minister’s decision to extend the
BEO for an additional year. Prior to the BEO’s expiry,
CCCS will assess and make a recommendation to the
Minister on the BEO.
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COPCOMER: COMMUNITY OF PRACTICE FOR
COMPETITION AND ECONOMIC REGULATIONS

COPCOMER is an inter-agency platform for government
agencies. Through regular activities such as seminars
and workshops, COPCOMER facilitates the learning of
market developments and the sharing of best practices
and experiences on competition, consumer protection
and regulatory issues.

COPCOMER Competition Workshop: “Competition
Matters: What Public Officers Need to Know”

In November 2020, CCCS organised a COPCOMER
competition workshop for public officers to gain a deeper
understanding of the key prohibitions of the Competition
Act, competition issues that arise from government

participation in the market, and how CCCS'’s competition
impact assessment framework can be used to identify
competition issues. Case studies, interactive quizzes

and practical tips for engaging CCCS further helped

to illustrate the applicability of these concepts. During
the session, the Land Transport Authority shared its
experience working with CCCS on an advisory.

More than 100 public officers from 20 agencies attended
the workshop, which took place over two morning
sessions on 4 and 5 November 2020. The overall
feedback was positive; respondents found the workshop
relevant and were able to apply the concepts learned. B
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PUBLICITY AND OUTREACH FOR GUIDELINES

ON PRICE TRANSPARENCY

Media and Online Publicity

A virtual media briefing was held on 7 September 2020
to launch the Guidelines and explain its key pricing
practices to the media. The session was attended by
local online, print, television and radio news outlets.

There has been wide and positive news coverage of the
Guidelines, with close to 20 reports published across
local news platforms, and an interview with Mr Herbert
Fung, Senior Director of Business & Economics, that aired
on Mediacorp’s Channel 8 and on Chinese radio stations.

To supplement media coverage and increase the public’s
awareness of the Guidelines, CCCS leveraged targeted
online advertising with platforms such as Facebook and
the Google Display Network.

TACs and Suppliers

CCCS has been working with the Ministry of Trade

and Industry and a number of Trade Associations and
Chambers (“TACs”) to disseminate the key messages to
suppliers through website advertisements and electronic
direct mailers.

In particular, CCCS collaborated with TACs such as the
Singapore Chinese Chamber of Commerce & Industry
and the Singapore Business Federation to organise
webinars to educate their members about the new
guidelines. The webinars, held in October and November

[a} @ bizq.sbf.org.sg/cces-guidelines-provide-retailers-clarity-on-transparent-pricing/

3
Bl DPINIDN FEATURES GLOBAL MARKETS BIZ STYLE SUBSCRIBE SBF

CCCS GUIDELINES PROVIDE
RETAILERS CLARITY ON
TRANSPARENT PRICING

2020, were attended by over 260 participants from

both organisations. Other outreach sessions included

a sharing session in November 2020 for suppliers of
Chinese proprietary medicines, traditional medicines and
health supplements in Singapore, and more recently in
2021, a presentation at the Singapore Hotel Association’s
Competition Law & Consumer Protection Seminar.

Build Your Reputation
as a Trusted Trader

Adopt transparent pricing
and good trade practices.
Find out more al www.cccs.gov.sg

COMPETITION
& CONSUMER
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SINGAPORE
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MONEYFM INTERVIEW ON CONSUMER PROTECTION

28 APRIL 2020

In an interview with MoneyFM, Mr Jack Teng, Director
of Consumer Protection, spoke about how consumers
can protect themselves against unfair trade practices
by retailers. He highlighted the beauty industry, which
according to statistics from the Consumers Association
of Singapore, has consistently ranked among the top
three industries with the most complaints received.
One-third of complaints received in 2019 involved
salespersons exerting undue pressure or influence on
consumers. Mr Teng encouraged consumers to protect
themselves by gathering enough knowledge of the
products and services to help them make an informed
purchasing decision. l

OUTREACH TO THE GENERAL INSURANCE
ASSOCIATION OF SINGAPORE

7 AUGUST 2020

CCCS hosted a virtual outreach session for the General
Insurance Association of Singapore on 7 August 2020.
In addition to sharing a primer on the Competition

Act, CCCS also shared its observations on industry
practices pertaining to the distribution of insurance

for Management Corporation Strata Titles (“MCSTs")
through intermediaries, and how these may impact
market competition and, in turn, insurers and their
MCST customers.

4} ChristineYip

4} Angela Koh

Competition Law Sharing with GLA
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CORPORATE VIDEO: “MAKING MARKETS WORK WELL"

“Making Markets Work Well”, CCCS’s latest corporate
video, showcases its roles and responsibilities and
provides an overview of the Competition Act and the
Consumer Protection (Fair Trading) Act.

OUTREACH TO SCHOOLS

In an effort to develop and cultivate future business
leaders, CCCS engages schools and promotes the
understanding of competition and consumer protection
laws among students. In 2020, CCCS conducted several
outreach sessions to junior college and university students.

National Junior College

(3 August 2020)

Officers from the Policy & Markets Division conducted

an online presentation for 240 economics students from
National Junior College. The session, titled “Economics in
Action: Making Markets Work Well”, covered the three key
prohibitions under the Competition Act, with a focus on
mergers and acquisitions.

Why does competition matter?

Past year & Level H2 Economics questions

1 Why does market competition
mean lower prices?

© Is market competition the ealy
daterminan it of price?

£ How does market structure affect
firms* pricing and output
decisions?

1 Is government intervention in
markets with high market
concentration always desirable?

# How does market competition
affect firm closure during
recessions?

M

The video features CCCS'’s key interventions over the
years - including exposing a decade-old capacitors
cartel comprising five large global electronic firms -

and highlights several unfair trade practices, including
examples from the beauty and e-commerce industries. M

National University of Singapore

(1 September 2020)

Officers from the Business & Economics Division gave a
presentation on the role of economics in competition law
and policy to university students taking Assoc Prof Burton
Ong’'s Competition Law and Policy module. The online
seminar saw a lively exchange of ideas between the CCCS
officers and Prof Ong’s class of about 40 students.

(11 November 2020)

The Policy & Markets Division conducted an outreach
session on competition law and regulation in Singapore
to about 40 economics students taking the Industrial
Organisation module. The presentation, which took
place virtually, covered the three key prohibitions under
the Competition Act and included case examples.

Tampines Meridian Junior College

(24 November 2020)

The Policy & Markets Division reached out to 120
economics students from Tampines Meridian Junior
College with an online presentation, “Economics

in Action: Competition Act and the CCCS”. The

session covered the three key prohibitions under the
Competition Act, with a focus on abuse of dominance. M
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OPINION PIECE: DO ASEAN-WIDE SUPER APPS
NEED TO BE REGULATED?

Assoc Prof Burton Ong and Dr Tan Hi Lin examined the
emergence of super apps, their impact on competition in
the digital marketplace, and how regional co-operation

among ASEAN’s competition authorities can help to
ensure effective competition enforcement. The article
was published on 27 May 2020 in The Straits Times. l

Do Asean-wide super apps
need to be regulated?

The pandemic is boosting e-commerce, with a growing role for competition
law and policy across Asean to ensure open market access and fair practices

Burton Ongand
TanHiLin

For The Straits Times

potential for greater e-commerce
adoption in the region.
Firms face manyrh1llengg~<

used many times a day, can include
payment options and e-commerce,
which let users shop and pay

today,such asot
marketaccess, and lhcl::cl(or

: Ascan-wide interoperable

gh the app.
Similar developments can be
found in South-cast Asia. Both

In 2018, the acquisition of

{ American ride hﬂ]ingpla(form
¢ Uber's South-e:

iong

Asean member states are also

taking important steps to bridge
digital divides through the Asean

¢ byGrabshowed how quick]ya
¢ mergerofonline players could be
; completed and made irreversible.

H Dngiu]lmegmdon]’-‘mmeuwk 1]
facilitate digital trade and
novation, while enabling
less dizital

Thel" ition and C;
i ! (CCCs)

2
Asc ition can alsobe

was qulckloacmn the merger

affected l;y government po
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ROLE OF COMPETITION

LAW AND POLICY

This is where competition law and
li

! service - inordert ageits

y canplay a role to facilitate
e-commerce growth,

B Source: The Straits Times © Singapore Press Holdings Limited. Reprinted with permission.
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facilitate enforcement
cooperation. The CCCS has signed
anMOU with the Indonesian
Competition Commission to
encourage notification of
enforcement activities that
potentially affect eachother's
interests, facilitate the exchange of
information between the agencies,
and support enforcement
coordination in cases of mutual

interest.

* Associate Professor Burton Ongis
; head of Competition Law Researchat
: the EW Barker Centre for Law and
Business, National University of
Singapore. Tan Hi Linis director of the
Palicy and Markets division of the
Competition and Consumer
Commissionof Singapore. Celestine
Seng. assistant director atthe same
¢ division, also contributed to this

¢ article.
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CCCS LEGAL ROUNDTABLE

21 AUGUST 2020

At the annual Legal Roundtable, CCCS updated
practitioners on the Guidelines on Price Transparency
and briefed them on the key amendments it was
intending to make to several CCCS Guidelines and

the rationale behind them, including, among others,

the Guidelines on the Treatment of Intellectual

Property Rights and Guidelines on Market Definition.

The roundtable discussion was well attended by
representatives from local and international law firms and
other organisations.

10™ REGULATORS ROUNDTABLE ON Al GOVERNANCE

21 OCTOBER 2020

The Legal & Enforcement Division presented CCCS'’s
E-commerce Platforms Market Study at the 10"
Regulators Roundtable on Artificial Intelligence (“Al”)
Governance. The presentation focused on CCCS’s
position on algorithmic collusion, and positions taken
by overseas competition authorities on the issue of

algorithmic collusion.
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Interviews & Publications

INTERVIEWS: UP CLOSE AND PERSONAL WITH
CCCS CHIEF EXECUTIVE MS SIA AIK KOR

In separate interviews with MLex and
WA IANTTRUST = Global Competition Review, Ms Sia
aLndsNulgm% T Singapore's competition boss reflects on Aik Kor Spoke about her role as Chief
her s yuor sodd the funie Executive of CCCS, the challenges
of the COVID-19 pandemic and her
ambitions for the future. M

Singapore’s
Antitrust
Original

/

ESSAY: THE ROLE OF COMPETITION LAW AND
POLICY IN SUPPORTING ASEAN E-COMMERCE

E-commerce is a key front for ASEAN economic

integration, given the increasingly significant role it THE EVOLUTION OF ANTITRUST
plays in the purchase of goods and services by ASEAN __N T(r'E,"iK?]'i)TA:fi(lfﬂﬁim_
consumers. Essays on Gompetition Policy

Volume One

This essay examines how digital trade in the region might e
be simultaneously facilitated and impeded by regional Rl o0 0
market developments that impact the competitive

landscape in which online merchants operate.

The essay was written by CCCS officers Dr Tan Hi Lin
(Director, Policy & Markets Division), Ms Celestine Song
(Assistant Director, Policy & Markets Division) and Assoc
Prof Burton Ong (Head of Competition Law Research

at the EW Barker Centre for Law and Business, National
University of Singapore). It is part of The Evolution

of Antitrust In the Digital Era: Essays on Competition
Policy (Volume One), a collection of essays published by
Competition Policy International.

GOING BEYOND
BORDERS

CCCS works with our foreign counterparts to promote
competition and protect consumers.
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INTERNATIONAL COMPETITION NETWORK

The International Competition Network (“ICN”) is the
global body devoted to competition law enforcement.
Its members comprise national and multinational
competition authorities. CCCS is an active member of
the ICN and, since 2015, has been a member of the ICN’s
decision-making body, the ICN Steering Group.

Appointment of CCCS as co-chair of the ICN Agency
Effectiveness Working Group

(May 2020)

In May 2020, CCCS assumed the role of co-chair of

the Agency Effectiveness Working Group (“AEWG”),
alongside the Swedish Competition Authority and the
Competition and Consumer Authority of Botswana.
Together with the other AEWG co-chairs, CCCS will
lead projects and initiatives to identify key elements

of a well-functioning competition agency and develop
best practices for agency strategy, planning, operations
and procedures.

In the current ICN work year, CCCS is leading the “Case
Initiation and Prioritisation” project to examine how early
case prioritisation and management can contribute to
effective and efficient enforcement.

CCCS was co-chair of the Advocacy Working Group for
three years prior to its new role as AEWG co-chair.

ICN Annual Conference and Fall Webinar Series
(September and October 2020)

The ICN Annual Conference was held virtually from 14 to
17 September 2020. Jointly organised by the US Federal
Trade Commission (“FTC”), US Department of Justice and
the ICN Working Group Co-Chairs, the event gathered
representatives from competition agencies and non-
governmental advisors; the opening day attracted over
2,500 participants online.

Ms Sia Aik Kor spoke in the Advocacy Working Group
plenary session, “Competition Advocacy in the Digital
Age”, on how CCCS’s working relationship with other
government agencies has evolved with the emergence
of digital markets. In the Chief Economist Session, Ms
Ng Ee Kia, Assistant Chief Executive (Policy, Business &
Economics), provided a Singapore perspective on the
opportunities and challenges for economic analyses of
the digital sector.

Following from the conference, CCCS organised a
webinar on “Enforcement Priorities in Action: Agency
Effectiveness Perspective” as part of the ICN Fall Webinar
Series. The webinar facilitated insightful discussion
around agencies’ motivations for case prioritisation, how
they identified and set their enforcement priorities, the
substantive criteria that guided their priority setting
practices, and the challenges and practical issues faced
when implementing the priorities. About 120 participants
attended the session held on 13 October 2020. H
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INTERNATIONAL
CONSUMER PROTECTION
ENFORCEMENT NETWORK
(“ICPEN”)

The ICPEN is a global forum focused on consumer
protection concerns. Its members comprise consumer
protection law enforcement authorities from around
the world.

CCCS participated in key events organised by the
ICPEN. These include the virtual ICPEN Conference (30
November and 2 to 3 December 2020) organised by
the Canadian Competition Bureau and weekly ICPEN
Best Practices Webinars in February 2021. Topics such
as misleading environmental claims and enforcement in
the digital economy were discussed.

ASIA-PACIFIC ECONOMIC
COOPERATION (“APEC”)

25 FEBRUARY 2021

APEC Competition Policy and Law Group
(“CPLG”) First Senior Officials’ Meeting

The CPLG is responsible for practical aspects

of competition law and enforcement to develop
and enhance competition law and policy in APEC
member economies. In its 2021 annual meeting
held on 25 February, 15 APEC members, including
Singapore, updated on the competition policy and
law developments in their respective economies.
Members also discussed the implications of
competition policy and law for structural reform and
governance. H

ORGANISATION FOR ECONOMIC CO-OPERATION AND

DEVELOPMENT (“OECD”)

OECD Special Meeting of High Level Representatives

of Asia-Pacific Competition Authorities

The meeting was held virtually on 15 July 2020, with the

theme of “Competition in Times of COVID-19”. Senior
competition representatives were invited to share

their agencies’ responses to COVID-19 and discuss

the strategies put in place by competition authorities
during the ongoing crisis. Ms Sia Aik Kor shared CCCS’s
experience with and responses to the crisis.

OECD Gilobal Forum on Competition

The Global Forum, held from 7 to 10 December 2020,
brought together competition officials from over

110 authorities and organisations. CCCS provided

e
.

written submissions on “Economic Analysis in Merger
Investigations” and “Using Market Studies to Tackle
Emerging Competition issues”. Mr Herbert Fung spoke in
the expert panel session on “Economic Analysis in Merger
Investigations” and chaired one of the breakout sessions. l
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ASSOCIATION OF SOUTHEAST ASIAN NATIONS (“ASEAN”)

ASEAN Experts Group on Competition (“AEGC”)

The AEGC was established in 2007 as the official
platform for discussing and coordinating competition
policies in ASEAN, with the goal of promoting
competition policy and law in the region. CCCS actively
participated in various AEGC meetings held over the
course of 2020.

9 June 2020 - 1t Online AEGC Meeting

In this meeting, the AEGC chairmanship was handed

over to Mr Trinh Anh Tuan, Deputy Director-General

of the Vietnam Competition and Consumer Authority.
The meeting discussed the progress of the 2020 AEGC
Priority Deliverables, including a mid-term review of the
ASEAN Competition Action Plan ("ACAP”) 2016 - 2025. A
session to share best practices in the context of COVID-19
was held between ASEAN Member States (“AMS”) and
representatives from the United Nations Conference

on Trade and Development (“UNCTAD”) and the Italian
Competition Authority. The AEGC also endorsed a Joint
Statement against COVID-19, which was published on the
AEGC web portal and the websites of the various ASEAN
competition authorities.

21 July 2020 and 6 August 2020 - 2" and 3" AEGC
Online Meetings

The meetings discussed possible collaboration with

the US Department of Justice as well as an upgrade of
the Competition Chapter for the ASEAN-Australia-New
Zealand Free Trade Agreement. The meetings also further
discussed the mid-term review of the ACAP.

20 to 22 October 2020 - 25" Meeting of the AEGC
During this meeting, the AEGC carried out a mid-term
review of the ACAP, which is a 10-year framework that will
guide the AEGC in developing ASEAN into a competitive
region with well-functioning markets. Arising from the
review were a number of amendments to the ACAP,
including the addition of new deliverables and initiatives.
CCCS will work with other competition authorities in
ASEAN to drive and implement these initiatives.

The meeting also discussed the progress of several
ongoing AEGC projects. A toolkit to guide AMS on
formulating and implementing their national enforcement
strategy, was finalised at the meeting and subsequently
published on the AEGC web portal. A handbook to raise
awareness among businesses on the various competition
regimes in ASEAN was also finalised and published.
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ASEAN Committee on Consumer Protection (“ACCP”)

The ACCP was established in 2007 as the focal point

to implement and monitor regional arrangements and
mechanisms to foster consumer protection in the ASEAN
region. CCCS participated actively in the ACCP meetings,
which were held online in 2020.

2 June 2020 - 1°* ACCP Online Meeting

In this meeting, AMS, the Australian Competition and
Consumer Commission, the US FTC and UNCTAD,
shared about the implications and measures to mitigate
COVID-19. The ASEAN Secretariat also updated the
meeting on the progress of the ACCP Key Deliverables
2020 and the mid-term review of the ASEAN Strategic
Action Plan on Consumer Protection (“ASAPCP”) 2016 -
2025.

17 June 2020 - Mid-term Review of the ASAPCP
CCCS attended a meeting on the mid-term review of the
ASAPCP. The review was conducted by consultants from the
Deutsche Gesellschaft fir Internationale Zusammenarbeit
(“GIZ”), a development partner of the ACCP.

22 June 2020 and 13 August 2020 - 2" and 3" ACCP
Online Meetings

These meetings were attended by AMS representatives,
including Singapore, and GIZ. Participants discussed

the progress of several ongoing ACCP initiatives and
projects, including the mid-term review of the ASAPCP.

GLOBAL COMPETITION
REVIEW LIVE: ASIA-PACIFIC
LAW LEADERS FORUM

3 AND 4 SEPTEMBER 2020

The forum brought together regulators, in-house
counsels and senior practitioners from the region to
discuss topics such as the interplay of competition,
consumer protection and data protection laws; merger
regulation and the consideration of socio-economic
factors; and the latest developments in the region. CCCS
spoke about its latest developments at the forum’s
ASEAN enforcers’ roundtable.

16 to 18 November 2020 - 21t ACCP Meeting and 4"
Project Steering Committee Meeting

The meetings were attended by AMS representatives,
including Singapore, and two ACCP development partners,
GIZ GmbH and the Australian Competition and Consumer
Commission. AMS were briefed on the progress of the
initiatives under the ASAPCP, and also provided feedback
on certain initiatives.
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HONG KONG COMPETITION
COMMISSION’S WEBINAR:
“COMPETITION IN AVIATION
AFTER COVID-19”

25 SEPTEMBER 2020

2020 DIGITAL
ENFORCEMENT SUMMIT

OCTOBER AND NOVEMBER 2020

Competition Bureau Canada organised its first Digital
Enforcement Summit, an event that spanned four days

in late 2020: 6 October, 19 October, 10 November and 26
November. The summit discussed a range of digital issues
across the full process of an investigation, from detection
to resolution. Competition enforcement agencies,
regulatory bodies and individuals from business, legal
and academic communities shared best practices and
challenges tackling emerging issues in the digital age.

Mr Herbert Fung, Senior Director (Business &
Economics), spoke at a session on “Developments

in Intelligence, Detection and Evidence”, where he
elaborated on the Singapore Government’s efforts to
encourage cross-agency data sharing and CCCS'’s
experience collaborating with government agencies to
build new enforcement tools such as a text comparison
tool and a mapping tool. H

The Hong Kong Competition Commission and the Chinese
University of Hong Kong Faculty of Law co-hosted a
webinar which discussed the impact of the COVID-19
outbreak on the aviation sector and the initiatives
undertaken by relevant government authorities to promote
competition in the aviation sector. The webinar was
attended by more than 100 participants, including officials
from competition and aviation authorities, and academics
specialising in competition in the aviation industry.

As a webinar panellist, Senior Assistant Director
(Business & Economics) Mr Jonathan Chan spoke about
CCCS'’s 2018 Airline Guidance Note and the review of
CCCS’s competition framework to handle crisis-driven
airline mergers and alliances. The panel also included
representatives from the Malaysian Aviation Commission,
the Competition and Markets Authority of the United
Kingdom, and the State Administration for Market
Regulation of the People’s Republic of China. l

PRESENTATION AT THE
WEBINAR SIDE-EVENT
OF THE DIGITAL CITIZEN
AND CONSUMER
WORKING GROUP

28 OCTOBER 2020

CCCS was invited to share at the Global Privacy
Assembly’s Digital Citizen and Consumer Working Group’s
(“DCCWG”) webinar side-event on 28 October 2020.
Earlier, a written paper by CCCS on the complements
and tensions between privacy and antitrust had caught
the eye of the DCCWG co-chairs, who noted that CCCS
had taken formal steps to incorporate data protection as
an element of consideration in its merger and abuse of
dominance assessments.

At the webinar, Mr Ng Ming Jie, Deputy Director (Policy &
Markets), presented the proposed amendments to CCCS
Competition Guidelines and highlighted that the changes
reflect a growing importance of data issues and provide
greater clarity and emphasis on how CCCS deals with

such issues in its assessments. Il

&
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IBA 2020 - VIRTUALLY
TOGETHER CONFERENCE

20 NOVEMBER 2020

4™ ACCC-CCCS
ECONOMISTS EXCHANGE

16 DECEMBER 2020

This seminar brought together economists from

CCCS and the Australian Competition and Consumer
Commission (“ACCC”) to share about their respective
projects. The ACCC discussed the draft bargaining
code for digital platforms and news media businesses;
Ms Leow Rui Ping, Assistant Director (Policy & Markets),
presented the findings and recommendations of the
CCCS e-commerce platforms market study. H

WORLD NEWS

v

Bam

$20.00

ADD TO CART

The International Bar Association (“IBA”) is an
organisation of legal practitioners, bar associations

and law societies. The IBA annual conference provides
a platform for legal professionals to discuss the
development of law and its role in business and society.

At IBA 2020, Ms Winnie Ching, Director (Legal), was a
panellist in a session entitled “Antitrust enforcement in

a digital age: is tech in the crosshairs?”, which examined
issues related to market definition for digital platforms,
competition among platforms and remedies for mergers
related to the technology industry. The panel also included
Ms Maureen Ohlhausen (former US FTC Commissioner)
and Ms Patricia Morita Sakowski (Deputy Chief Economist
of the Brazilian Competition Authority, or CADE). H

REGIONAL ROUNDTABLE
ON MERGER CONTROL IN
DIGITAL MARKETS

19 FEBRUARY 2021

The World Bank, in collaboration with the Indonesia
Competition Commission, organised a regional
roundtable on merger control in digital markets. The
aim of the roundtable was to exchange insights and
experiences on merger control in digital markets across
competition authorities in the Asia-Pacific region. Ms
Winnie Ching was the lead speaker for the session
entitled “Remedies”. During the roundtable, Ms Ching
also shared CCCS'’s experiences in merger control and
substantive analysis. ll
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Competition and Consumer Commission of Singapore
Statement by the Members of the Commission
Year ended 31 March 2021

Statement by the Members of the Commission

In our opinion,

(2)

(b)

(©)

the accompanying financial statements of the Competition and Consumer Commission of
Singapore (the “Commission”), set out on pages FS1 to FS30 are properly drawn up in
accordance with the provisions of the Public Sector (Governance) Act 2018, Act 5 of 2018
(the “PSG Act”), the Competition Act, Chapter 50B (the “Act”) and Statutory Board
Financial Reporting Standards (“SB-FRS”) so as to present fairly, in all material respects,
the state of affairs of the Commission as at 31 March 2021 and the results, changes in equity
and cash flows of the Commission for the financial year ended on that date;

proper accounting and other records have been kept, including records of all assets of the
Commission whether purchased, donated or otherwise; and

the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets
by the Commission during the financial year are in accordance with the provisions of the
PSG Act, the Act and the requirements of any other written law applicable to moneys of or
managed by the Commission.

The Members of the Commission have, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial
statements for issue.

On behalf of the Commission

-

Max Loh Khum Whai
Chairman

<,

>l

Sia Aik Kor
Chief Executive

16 July 2021
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Independent auditors’ report

Members of the Commission
Competition and Consumer Commission of Singapore

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Competition and Consumer Commission of
Singapore (the “Commission”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March
2021, the statement of income and expenditure and other comprehensive income, statement of
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on pages FS1 to
FS30.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with
the provisions of the Public Sector (Governance) Act 2018, Act 5 of 2018 (the “PSG” Act), the
Competition Act, Chapter 50B (the “Act”) and Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards
(“SB-FRS”) so as to present fairly, in all material respects, the state of affairs of the Commission
as at 31 March 2021 and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Commission for the
year ended on that date.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditors’ responsibilities for
the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the Commission
in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority Code of Professional
Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other information

Management is responsible for the other information contained in the annual report. Other
information is defined as all information in the annual report other than the financial statements
and our auditors’ report thereon.

We have obtained the List of Commission Members, List of Senior Management and Statement
by the Members of the Commission prior to the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

KPMG LLP (Registration No. TOBLL1267L), an accounting

limited liability partnership registered in Singapore under the

Limited Liability Partnership Act (Chapter 163A) and a member 2
firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member

firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private

English company limited by guarantee.



Competition and Consumer Commission of Singapore
Independent auditors’ report
Year ended 31 March 2021

KPMG!

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of
this auditors’ report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair representation of these financial
statements in accordance with the provisions of the PSG Act, the Act and SB-FRSs, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

A statutory board is constituted based on its Act and its dissolution requires Parliament’s approval.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Commission’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless there is intention to wind up the
Commission or for the Commission to cease operations.

The management and those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Commission’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.
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Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Commission’s internal controls.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Commission’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Commission to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal controls that we identify during our audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinion

In our opinion:

(2)

(b)

the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets
by the Commission during the year are, in all material respects, in accordance with the
provisions of the PSG Act, the Act and the requirements of any other written law applicable
to moneys of or managed by the Commission; and

proper accounting and other records have been kept, including records of all assets of the
Commission where purchased, donated or otherwise.
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Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with SSAs. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Compliance Audit’ section of our
report. We are independent of the Commission in accordance with the ACRA Code together with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and
we have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA
code. We believe that the audit evidence that we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion on management’s compliance.

Responsibilities of management for compliance with legal and regulatory requirements

Management is responsible for ensuring that the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and
the acquisition and disposal of assets, are in accordance with the provisions of the PSG Act, the
Act and the requirements of any other written law applicable to moneys of or managed by the
Commission. This responsibility includes monitoring related compliance requirements relevant
to the Commission, and implementing internal controls as management determines are necessary
to enable compliance with the requirements.

Auditor’s responsibility for the compliance audit

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s compliance based on our audit of
the financial statements. We planned and performed the compliance audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and
disposal of assets, are in accordance with the provisions of the PSG Act, the Act and the
requirements of any other written law applicable to moneys of or managed by the Commission.

Our compliance audit includes obtaining an understanding of the internal control relevant to the
receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets; and
assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements from non-compliance, if
any, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Commission’s
internal control. Because of the inherent limitations in any internal control system, non-
compliances may nevertheless occur and not be detected.

cowty {7

KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore
16 July 2021



Statement of financial position
As at 31 March 2021

Assets

Plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
.Nomn-current assets

Other receivables
Prepayments

Cash and cash equivalents
Current assets

Total assets

Equity
Share capital
Accumulated surpluses

Total equity

Liabilities

Lease liabilities

Provision for reinstatement costs
Deferred capital grants
Non-~current liabilities

Lease liabilities

Trade and other payables

Amounts payable to the supervisory ministry
Provision for contribution to consolidated fund
Deferred capital grants

Current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Competition and Consumer Commission of Singapore
Financial statements

Note

(5]

10

11

10
12
13
14
11

Year ended 31 March 2021
2021 2029
$ $

818,749 1,116,507
5,767,277 7,037,148
555,997 670,101
7,142,023 8,823,756
80,395 248,698
379,443 133,434
26,279,708 24,487,803
26,739,546 24,869,935
33,881,569 33,693,691
2,097,892 2,097,892
21,123,956 18,547,804
23,221,848 20,645,696
4,602,660 5,848,309
324,489 324,489
866,775 1,258,735
5,793,924 7,431,533
1,257,589 1,226,454
2,572,585 3,670,053
- 160,956
527,645 71,123
507,978 487,876
4,865,797 5,616,462
10,659,721 13,047,995
33,881,569 33,693,691
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Statement of income and expenditure and other comprehensive income

Year ended 31 March 2021

Note 2021 2020
$ $
Income :
Interest income 174,270 371,317
Application fee income 364,453 121,713
Other operating income 595,017 40,796
15 1,133,740 533,826
Expenditure
Depreciation of plant and equipment 4 (348,728) (339,008)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 5 (1,285,131)  (1,277,227)
Amortisation of intangible assets 6 (184,104) (200,550)
Salaries, wages and staff benefits (11,580,764) (11,998,808)
Staff training and development costs (95,844) (436,045)
Information technology expenses (1,613,802) (1,448,957
Operating lease expenses (371,579) (436,605)
Other operating expenses (1,568,574)  (2,770,995)
Finance cost 10 (139,575) (82,617)
(17,188,101) (18,990,812)
Deficit before government grants (16,054,361) (18,456,986)
Government grants
Operating and other grants 16 18,665,330 18,397,729
Deferred capital grant amortised 11 492,828 477,627
19,158,158 18,875,356
Surplus before contribution to consolidated fund 17 3,103,797 418,370
Contribution to consolidated fund 14 (527,645) (71,123)
Net surplus for the year representing total
comprehensive income for the year 2,576,152 347,247

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity
Year ended 31 March 2021

Balance at 1 April 2019

Net surplus for the year, representing total
comprehensive income for the year

Balance at 31 March 2020

Balance at 1 April 2020

Net surplus for the year, representing total
comprehensive income for the year

Balance at 31 March 2021

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Competition and Consumer Commission of Singapore
Financial statements

Year ended 31 March 2021
Share Accumulated
capital surpluses Total
$ $ $
2,097,892 18,200,557 20,298,449
— 347,247 347,247
2,097,892 18,547,804 20,645,696
2,097,892 18,547,804 20,645,696
— 2,576,152 2,576,152
2,097,892 21,123,956 23,221,848
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Statement of cash flows
Year ended 31 March 2021

Cash flows from operating activities
Deficit before government grants
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of intangible assets
Write off of plant and equipment
Interest income

Finance cost

Changes in:

Other receivables

Prepayments

Trade and other payables

Cash used in operations

Contribution to consolidated fund

Amounts payable to the supervisory ministry

Decrease in cash with AGD not available for
general use

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of plant and equipment

Purchase of intangible assets

Interest received

Net cash generated from investing activities

Cash flow from financing activities
Government grants received

Payment of lease liabilities

Interest paid

Net cash generated from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the

financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
financial year

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Competition and Consumer Commmission of Singapore
Financial statements

Note

w

15
10

Year ended 31 March 2021
2021 2020
$ $
(16,054,361) (18,456,986)
348,728 339,008
1,285,131 1,277,227
184,104 200,550
- 3,098
(174,270)  (371,317)
139,575 82,617

(14,271,093)

(16,925,803)

(19,967) 69,877
(246,009) 98,172
(1,148,438) 648,546
(15,685,507)  (16,109,208)
(71,123) (27,225)
(160,956)  (354,104)
160,956 354,104
(15,756,630)  (16,136,433)
- (53,138)
(70,000) -
362,540 374,336
292,540 321,198
18,786,300 18,697,500
(1,229,774)  (1,239,612)
(139,575) (82,617)
17,416,951 17,375,271
1,952,861 1,560,036
24,326,847 22,766,811
26,279,708 24,326,847
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Notes to the financial statements
These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Members of the Commission on 16 July
2021.

Domicile and activities

The Competition and Consumer Commission of Singapore (the “Commission”) was established
as a statutory board in Singapore under the provisions of the Competition Act, Chapter 50B (the
G(Act”).

As a statutory board, the Commission is subjected to the control of its supervisory ministry,
Ministry of Trade and Industry (“MTI”). The Commission is required to follow the policies and
instructions issued from time to time by MTI and other government ministries and departments
such as the Ministry of Finance (“MOF”).

The principal place of business and registered office is located at 45 Maxwell Road, #09-01, The
URA Centre, Singapore 069118.

The Commission’s functions and duties are principally to:

a. maintain and enhance efficient market conduct and promote overall productivity, innovation
and competitiveness of markets in Singapore;

b. eliminate or control practices having adverse effect on competition in Singapore;
c. promote and sustain competition in markets in Singapore;

d. promote a strong competitive culture and environment throughout the economy in
Singapore;

e. actinternationally as the national body representative of Singapore in respect of competition
matters and consumer protection matters;

ea. promote fair trading practices among suppliers and consumers and enable consumers to
make informed purchasing decisions in Singapore;

eb. prevent suppliers in Singapore from engaging in unfair practices;

ec. administer and enforce the Consumer Protection (Fair Trading) Act, Chapter 52A;

f.  advise the Government, any public authority or any consumer protection organisation on
national needs and policies in respect of competition matters and consumer protection

matters generally; and

g. perform such other functions and discharge such other duties as may be conferred on the
Commission by or under any other written law.
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Competition and Consumer Commission of Singapore
Financial statements
Year ended 31 March 2021

Basis of preparation
Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the PSG Act,
the Act and the Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards (“SB-FRS”), including
Interpretations of SB-FRS (“INT SB-FRS”) and SB-FRS Guidance Notes as promulgated by the
Accountant-General.

Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as otherwise
described in the notes below.

Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the functional currency of
the Commission.

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with SB-FRSs requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies
and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods
affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements
in applying accounting policies that have most significant effect on the amount recognised in the
financial statements is included in the following note:

e Note 3.10 — Revenue recognition
Changes in significant accounting policies

The Commission has applied the following amendments to SB-FRS for the first time for the
annual period beginning on 1 April 2020:

Amendments to Reference to Conceptual Framework in SB-FRSs

Amendments to SB-FRS 103 Definition of a Business

Amendments to SB-FRS 1-1 and SB-FRS 8 Definition of Material

Amendments to SB-FRS 109, SB-FRS 39 and SB-FRS 107 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The application of these amendments to standards and interpretations did not have a material
effect on the financial statements.
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Competition and Consumer Commission of Singapore
Financial statements
Year ended 31 March 2021

Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in
these financial statements.

Foreign currency
Foreign currency tramsactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of the Commission at
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to the functional currency at the exchange
rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between
amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective
interest and payments during the year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the
exchange rate at the end of the year.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair
value are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured in terms of historical
cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency
differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities

Recognition and initial measurement

Other receivables issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial
assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Commission becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset or financial liability is initially measured at fair value.

Classification and subsequent measurement

Non-derivative financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Commission
changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial

assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the
business model.
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Financial assets at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is
not designated as at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”):

e it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and

e its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets: Business model assessment

The Commission makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial
asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and
information is provided to management. The information considered includes:

o the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in
practice. These include whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual
interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the
financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising
cash flows through the sale of the assets;

e how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Commission’s
management;

o the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within
that business model) and how those risks are managed,

e how managers of the business are compensated — e.g. whether compensation is based on the
fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

e the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for
such sales and expectations about future sales activity.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition
are not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Commission’s continuing
recognition of the assets.

Non-derivative financial assets: Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely
payments of principal and interest

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset
on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for
the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time
and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as
a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the
Commission considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether
the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of
contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the
Commission considers:

e contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;
e terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable rate features;
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e prepayment and extension features; and
e terms that limit the Commission’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse
features).

A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if
the prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding, which may include reasonable additional compensation for early
termination of the contract. Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a significant discount
or premium to its contractual par amount, a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an
amount that substantially represents the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid)
contractual interest (which may also include reasonable additional compensation for early
termination) is treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature
is insignificant at initial recognition.

Non-derivative financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses
Financial assets at amortised cost

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The
amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognised in the statement of income and expenditure and statement
of comprehensive income. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in the statement of
income and expenditure and other comprehensive income.

Non-derivative financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and
losses

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability
is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading or it is designated as such on initial
recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses,
including any interest expense, are recognised in the statement of income and expenditure and
statement of comprehensive income. Directly attributable transaction costs are recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value less directly attributable transaction
costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in the statement of income
and expenditure and statement of comprehensive income. These financial liabilities comprised
trade and other payables and amounts payable to the supervisory ministry.

Derecognition
Financial assets

The Commission derecognises a financial asset when:
e the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire; or
e it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which either:
- substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred;
or
- the Commission neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.
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Transferred assets are not derecognised when the Commission enters into transactions whereby it
transfers assets recognised in its statement of financial position, but retains either all or
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets.

Financial liabilities

The Commission derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged
or cancelled, or expire. The Commission also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are
modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a
new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished
and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is
recognised in the statement of income and expenditure and statement of comprehensive income.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement
of financial position when, and only when, the Commission currently has a legally enforceable
right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
ordinary shares are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Plant and equipment
Recognition and measurement

Items of plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of
self-constructed assets includes:

e the cost of materials and direct labour;

e any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their
intended use;

e when the Commission has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an estimate of
the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are
located; and

e capitalised borrowing costs.

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as
part of that equipment.

When parts of an item of plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for
as separate items (major components) of plant and equipment.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss.
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Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a component of an item of plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the
component will flow to the Commission, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced component is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of plant
and equipment are recognised in the profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of
individual assets are assessed and if a component has a useful life that is different from the
remainder of that asset, that component is depreciated separately.

Depreciation is recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of each component of an item of plant and equipment, unless it is included
in the carrying amount of another asset. Capital work-in-progress is not depreciated.

Depreciation is recognised from the date that the plant and equipment are installed and are ready
for use, or in respect of internally constructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed and
ready for use.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:

e Furniture, fixtures and equipment 8 years
e Office equipment 510 10 years
e Computer equipment 3 to 5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period and adjusted if appropriate.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Commission and have finite useful lives are measured
at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits
embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

Amortisation is calculated based on the cost of the asset, less its residual value,

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
of intangible assets from the date that they are available for use. The estimated useful lives for the
current and comparative periods are from 3 to 5 years. Development work-in-progress is not

amortised.

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period and adjusted if appropriate.
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Leases

At inception of a contract, the Commission assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

As a lessee

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the
Commission allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of
its relative stand-alone prices.

The Commission recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement
date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus
any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives
received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the
commencement date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset to the Commission by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use
asset reflects that the Commission will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use
asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the
same basis as those of plant and equipment.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Depreciation is recognised as an expense in the statement of income and expenditure and
other comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets
as follows:

Office premises Remaining lease term
Office equipment Remaining lease term

In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and
adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid
at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate
cannot be readily determined, the Commission’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the
Commission uses the Government’s borrowing rate as an estimate of its incremental borrowing
rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

e fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index
or rate as at the commencement date;

e amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

e the exercise price under a purchase option that the Commission is reasonably certain to
exercise, lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Commission is reasonably
certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless
the Commission is reasonably certain not to terminate early.
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The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or
rate, if there is a change in the Commission’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee, if the Commission changes its assessment of whether it will exercise
a purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease
payment.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Commission has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of
low-value assets and short-term leases. The Commission recognises the lease payments associated
with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Impairment

Non-derivative financial assets

The Commission recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on financial
assets measured at amortised costs.

Loss allowances of the Commission are measured on either of the following bases:

e 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12
months after the reporting date (or for a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is
less than 12 months); or

e Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument or contract asset.

Simplified approach

The Commission applies the simplified approach to provide for ECLs for other receivables. The
simplified approach requires the loss allowance to be measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.

General approach

The Commission applies the general approach to provide for ECLs on all other financial
instruments. Under the general approach, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
12-month ECLs at initial recognition.

At each reporting date, the Commission assesses whether the credit risk of a financial instrument

has increased significantly since initial recognition. When credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Commission considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Commission’s historical
experience and informed credit assessment and includes forward-looking information.

If credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition or if the credit quality of the
financial instruments improves such that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs.

The Commission considers a financial asset to be in default when the receivables is unlikely to
pay its credit obligations to the Commission in full, without recourse by the Commission to
actions such as realising security (if any is held).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Commission is exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are probability-weighted estimates of credit losses. Credit losses are measured at the present
value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Commission expects to receive). ECLs
are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Commission assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised
cost and debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) are
credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

significant financial difficulty of the receivables or issuer;
a breach of contract such as a default;

o therestructuring of a loan or advance by the Commission on terms that the Commission would
not consider otherwise;
it is probable that the receivables will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross
carrying amount of these assets.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the
Commission determines that the receivables does not have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial
assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with
the Commission’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.
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Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Commission’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting
date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists,
then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying
amount of an asset or its related cash-generating unit (“CGU”) exceeds its estimated recoverable
amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less
costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing,
assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of
other assets or CGUs.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of
CGUs are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs)
on a pro rata basis.

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.

Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Commission has a present legal or
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as
finance cost.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered
from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement
will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Site restoration

In accordance with the applicable terms and conditions in the lease arrangement governing the

Commission’s use of assets under operating leases and a provision for reinstatement costs in respect
of the leased premises, and the related expense, was recognised at the date of inception of the lease.
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Employee benefits
Defined contribution plan

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further
amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an
employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which related services are
rendered by employees.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed
as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid
under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Commission has a present legal or
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee,
and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised initially at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance
that the grants will be received and the Commission will comply with the conditions associated with
grants.

Government grants utilised for the purchase of depreciable assets are initially recorded as “deferred
capital grants” on the statement of financial position of the Commission. Deferred capital grants are
then recognised in the statement of income and expenditure and other comprehensive income over
the periods necessary to match the depreciation of the assets purchased, with the related grants.
Capital grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the useful life of the asset.
Upon disposal of the asset, the balance of the related deferred capital grants is recognised in the
statement of income and expenditure and other comprehensive income to match the net book value
of assets written off.

Other government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match the
expenditure for which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from sale of services in the ordinary course of business is recognised when the
Commission satisfies a performance obligation (“PO”) by transferring control of a promised

service to the applicant. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount of the transaction price
allocated to the satisfied PO.
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The transaction price is allocated to each PO in the contract on the basis of the relative stand-
alone selling prices of the promised services. The individual standalone selling price of a service
that has not previously been sold on a stand-alone basis, or has a highly variable selling price, is
determined based on the residual portion of the transaction price after allocating the transaction
price to services with observable stand-alone selling prices. A discount or variable consideration
is allocated to one or more, but not all, of the POs if it relates specifically to those POs.

The transaction price is the amount of consideration in the contract to which the Commission
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised services. Consideration payable
to an applicant is deducted from the transaction price if the Commission does not receive a
separate identifiable benefit from the applicant.

Application fees
Application fees income is recognised over time when the service is being provided.
Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time-proportion basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and
at the effective interest rate applicable.

Financial penalties

Financial penalties are imposed on undertakings found to have infringed the prohibitions under the
Competition Act, Chapter 50B. Financial penalties are collected on behalf of the supervisory
ministry, and together with the interest accrued on financial penalties, are transferred to the
Consolidated Fund at least once every quarter. Financial penalties are accounted for on a cash basis.

Contribution to consolidated fund

The Commission is required to make contribution to the Consolidated Fund in accordance with the
Statutory Corporations (Contributions to Consolidated Fund) Act, Chapter 319A. The provision is
based on the guidelines specified by the Ministry of Finance. It is computed based on the net surplus
of the Commission for each of the financial year at the prevailing corporate tax rate for the Year of
Assessment. Contribution to consolidated fund is provided for on an accrual basis,

New standards and interpretations not adopted

The following amendments to SB-FRSs have been issued but are not yet effective for the reporting
period ended 31 March 2021:

Description Effective for annual
periods beginning on or
after

Amendments to SB-FRS 116: Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions 1 June 2020
Amendments to SB-FRS 103: Reference to the Conceptual

Framework 1 January 2022
Amendments to SB-FRS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment —

Proceeds before Intended Use 1 January 2022
Amendments to SB-FRS 37: Onerous Contracts —Cost of Fulfilling a

Contract 1 January 2022
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Annual Improvements to SB-FRSs 2018 — 2020 (dmendments to SB-
FRS 101, SB-FRS 109, lllustrative Examples Accompanying SB-FRS

116, and SB-FRS 41) 1 January 2022
Amendments to SB-FRS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current 1 January 2023

The Council does not expect that the adoption of the amendments to SB-FRSs above to have any
significant impact on the financial statements.

Plant and equipment

Furniture,
fixtures and Office Computer Assets under
equipment equipment equipment construction Total
$ $ $ $ $
Cost
At 1 April 2019 1,473,122 960,227 2,271,126 - 4,704,475
Additions - - 222,633 53,138 275,771
Reclassification - - 53,138 (53,138) -
Disposals/Write off — (23,235) (374,099) - (397,334)
At 31 March 2020 1,473,122 936,992 2,172,798 - 4,582,912
At 1 April 2020 1,473,122 936,992 2,172,798 - 4,582,912
Additions - - - 50,970 50,970
Disposals/Write off (3,429) (10,831) (358,596) — (372,856)
At31 March 2021 1,469,693 926,161 1,814,202 50,970 4,261,026
Accumulated
depreciation
At 1 April 2019 1,258,661 735,018 1,527,954 - 3,521,633
Depreciation 37,221 88,082 213,705 - 339,008
Disposals/Write off — (20,137) (374,099) — (394,236)
At 31 March 2020 1,295,882 802,963 1,367,560 - 3,466,405
At 1 April 2020 1,295,882 802,963 1,367,560 - 3,466,405
Depreciation 36,723 62,165 249,840 - 348,728
Disposals/Write off (3,429) (10,831) (358,596) - (372,856)
At 31 March 2021 1,329,176 854,297 1,258,804 ~ 3,442,277
Carrying amounts
At 1 April 2019 214,461 225,209 743,172 — 1,182,842
At 31 March 2020 177,240 134,029 805,238 - 1,116,507
At 31 March 2021 140,517 71,864 555,398 50,970 818,749
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Right-of-use assets
Leases as lessee (SB-FRS 116)

The Commission leases office premises and office equipment. The leases typically run for a
period of one to three years, with an option to renew the lease after that date. For lease of office
premises, the rental rates are renegotiated every three years to reflect market rentals.

The Commission leases IT equipment with contract terms of one to three years. These leases are
of low-value items. The Commission has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for these leases.

Information about leases for which the Commission is a lessee is presented below.

Office Office
premises equipment Total
$ $ $
Cost
At 1 April 2019 633,138 3,494 636,632
Additions 7,670,290 7,453 7,677,743
At 31 March 2020 8,303,428 10,947 8,314,375
At 1 April 2020 8,303,428 10,947 8,314,375
Additions - 15,260 15,260
At 31 March 2021 8,303,428 26,207 8,329,635
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2019 - - —
Depreciation 1,272,329 4,898 1,277,227
At 31 March 2020 1,272,329 4,898 1,277,227
At 1 April 2020 1,272,329 4,898 1,277,227
Depreciation 1,278,382 6,749 1,285,131
At 31 March 2021 2,550,711 11,647 2,562,358
Carrying amounts
At 1 April 2019 633,138 3,494 636,632
At 31 March 2020 7,031,099 6,049 7,037,148
At 31 March 2021 5,752,717 14,560 5,767,277

Extension options

The office premises lease contains two extension options of 3-year duration each exercisable by
the Commission after the current non-cancellable lease period ends on 30 September 2022. Where
practicable, the Commission seeks to include extension options in new leases to provide
operational flexibility. The extension options held are exercisable only by the Commission and
not by the lessors. The Commission assesses at lease commencement date whether it is reasonably
certain to exercise the extension options. Based on the assessment performed, the Commisison is
reasonably certain that the Commission will exercise the 1* extension option. Consequently, the
lease period is computed based on the lease term of 6 years. The Commission did not perform
any reassessment as there is no significant event or significant change in circumstances within its
control in current year.
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The Commission has estimated that the potential future lease payments, should it exercise the 22
extension option, would result in an increase in lease liability of $3.5 million.

Intangible assets

Cost

At 1 April 2019
Additions
Disposals/Write off
At 31 March 2020
Additions

At 31 March 2021

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 April 2019
Amortisation charge
Disposals/Write off

At 31 March 2020
Amortisation charge

At 31 March 2021

Carrying amounts
At 1 April 2019

At 31 March 2020
At 31 March 2021

Other receivables

Interest receivable
Other receivables

Acquired  Development
computer work-
software im-progress Total
$ $
1,684,609 - 1,684,609
24,000 - 24,000
(146,448) - (146,448)
1,562,161 - 1,562,161
70,000 - 70,000
1,632,161 - 1,632,161
837,958 - 837,958
200,550 - 200,550
(146,448) - (146,448)
892,060 - 892,060
184,104 - 184,104
1,076,164 - 1,076,164
846,651 - 846,651
670,101 - 670,101
555,997 - 555,997
2021 2020
$ $
20,674 208,944
59,721 39,754
80,395 248,698

Other receivables amount are not past due and not impaired.
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Cash and cash equivalents
2021 2020
$ $
Cash with AGD 23,450,529 18,691,583
Cash at bank - 100,000
Deposits with AGD 2,829,179 5,696,220
26,279,708 24,487,803
Less: Cash with AGD not available for general use - (160,956)

26,279,708 24,326,847

The Commission participates in the AGD’s Centralised Liquidity Management (“CLM”) Scheme
whereby the Commission’s cash is pooled together and managed centrally by AGD, a related
party. This does not affect the daily liquidity of the Commission. AGD pays interest on the
Commission’s cash with AGD. The weighted average effective interest rates range between
0.28% to 1.52% (2020: 1.67% to 2.13%) per annum.

Cash with AGD not available for general use relates to the financial penalties collected on behalf
of the supervisory ministry, Ministry of Trade and Industry.

Share capital }
2021 2020 2021 2020
No. of shares $ $
Issued and fully paid
ordinary shares, with no
par value:
At 1 April and 31 March 2,097,892 2,097,892 2,097,892 2,097,892

The shares have been fully paid for and are held by the Minister of Finance, a body corporate
incorporated by the Minister for Finance (Incorporation) Act (Chapter 183). The holder of these
shares, which has no par value and do not carry any voting rights, is entitled to receive dividends
from the Commission. There is no dividend payable in current year.

Lease liabilities

2021 2020
$ $
Current 1,257,589 1,226,454
Non-current 4,602,660 5,848,309

5,860,249 7,074,763
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Reconciliation of movements of lease liabilities to cash flows arising from financial activities

Lease
liabilities
$
Balance at 1 April 2019 636,632
Changes from financing cash flows
Payment of lease liabilities (1,239,612)
Interest paid (82,617)
Total changes from financing cash flows (1,322,229)
Other charges
New lease 7,677,743
Interest expense 82,617
Total other charges 7,760,360
Balance at 31 March 2020 7,074,763
Balance at 1 April 2020 7,074,763
Changes from financing cash flows
Payment of lease liabilities (1,229,774)
Interest paid (139,575)
Total changes from financing cash flows (1,369,349)
Other charges
New lease 15,260
Interest expense 139,575
Total other charges 154,835
Balance at 31 March 2021 5,860,249
Amounts recognised in profit or loss
2021 2020
$ $
Interest on lease liabilities 139,575 82,617
Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets 81,838 99,670
Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows
2021 2020
$ $
Total cash outflow for leases 1,369,349 1,322,229
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Transfer from operating grants
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Transfer to statement of income and expenditure and

other comprehensive income
At 31 March

Representing
Current
Non-current

Year ended 31 March 2021
2021 2020
3 $

1,746,611 1,924,467
120,970 299,771

(492,828) (477,627)
1,374,753 1,746,611
507,978 487,876
866,775 1,258,735
1,374,753 1,746,611

Reconciliation of movements of operating and deferred capital grants to cash flows arising

from finamcial activities

Operating and  Deferred

other grants capital grants Total
$ $ $

Balance at 1 April 2019 - 1,924,467 1,924,467
Changes from financing cash flows
]Government grants received 18,397,729 299771 18,697,500 [
Total changes from financing cash flows 18,397,729 299,771 18,697,500
Other charges
\Government grants income (18,397,729) (477,627)  (18,875,356) |
Total other charges (18,397,729) (477,627) (18,875,356)
Balance as at 31 March 2020 — 1,746,611 1,746,611
Balance at 1 April 2020 - 1,746,611 1,746,611
Changes from financing cash flows
\Government grants received 18,665,330 120,970 18,786,300 |
Total changes from financing cash flows 18,665,330 120,970 18,786,300
Other charges
\Government grants income (18,665,330) (492,828)  (19,158,158) |
Total other charges (18,665,330) (492,828) (19,158,158)
Balance as at 31 March 2021 - 1,374,753 1,374,753
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Trade and other payables
2021 2020
$ $

Trade payables 112,461 149,851
Accrual for payroll related costs 764,500 1,600,217
Accrual for operating and other expenses 1,242,821 1,435,857
Accrual for purchase of plant and equipment and

intangible assets 50,970 322,841
Contract liabilities 401,833 161,287

2,572,585 3,670,053

The average credit period for trade payables is of 30 days (2020: 30 days). No interest is charged
on outstanding balances.

Financial penalties

Financial penalties are imposed on undertakings found to have infringed the prohibitions under
the Competition Act, Chapter 50B. In accordance with the Finance Circular Minute No. M5/2016,
legislated financial penalties are considered public moneys and are collected by the Commission on
behalf of its supervisory ministry, MTI. All financial penalties collected by the Commission are
paid into the Consolidated Fund in accordance with Section 13(2) of the Competition Act, Chapter
50B.

Movements in the amount payable to supervisory ministry on financial penalties collected are as
follows:

2021 2020
$ $

At 1 April 160,956 515,060
Financial penalties collected 18,798,026 4,298,368
Financial penalties paid to the supervisory ministry (18,958,982)  (4,652,472)
At 31 March - 160,956
Represented by:

Cash with AGD - 160,956

Provision for contribution to consolidated fund

The Commission is required to make contributions to the Consolidated Fund in accordance with the
Statutory Corporations (Contributions to Consolidated Fund) Act (Cap 319A, 2004 Revised
Edition) and in accordance with the Finance Circular Minute No. 5/2005 with effect from
2004/2005. The amount to be contributed is based on 17% (2020: 17%) of the net surplus of the
Commission, after netting off the prior years’ accounting deficit.
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Income
2021 2020
$ 5

Interest income on cash balances placed with AGD 174,270 371,317
Application fee income 364,453 121,713
Other operating income (a) 565,017 40,796

1,133,740 533,826

(a) Other operating income mainly comprises a one-off reimbursement of costs of appeal
$581,577 from one appellant.

The following table provides information about the nature and timing of the satisfaction of
performance obligations in contracts with applicants, including significant payment terms, and

the related revenue recognition policies:

Application fee income

Nature of services The Commission provides guidance or decision in relation to
agreement, conduct, mergers or anticipated mergers to the applicants.

When revenue is Revenue is recognised over time when the service is being provided.
recognised

Significant payment | Payment is received in advance, i.e. upon submission of application
terms form.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with applicants

In the following table, revenue from contracts with applicants is disaggregated by primary
geographical market.

2021 2020
$ $
Primary geographical markets
Domestic 364,453 121,713

Contract balances

The following table provides information about contract liabilities from contracts with applicants.

Note 2021 2020
$ $
Contract liabilities 12 401,833 161,287

The contract liabilities primarily relate to advance consideration received from applicants in
respect of the services to be provided.
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Significant changes in the contract liabilities balances during the period are as follows:

2021 2020
$ $
Revenue recognised that was included in the
contract liability balances at the beginning of the year 161,287 15,000
Increases due to application fee received* (401,833) (161,287)

* Excluding amounts recognised as application fee income during the year.

Operating and other grants

Note 2021 2020
$ $
Grants received from government during the year 17,176,300 17,077,500
Project grants received from government during the
year 1,610,000 1,620,000
Transfer to deferred capital grants 11 (120,970) (299,771)

18,665,330 18,397,729

Surplus before contribution to consolidated fund

Surplus for the year has been arrived at after charging:

2021 2020
$ $
Salaries, wages and other allowances 10,258,475 10,716,893
Contribution to defined contribution plans, included in
salaries, wages and staff benefits 1,322,289 1,281,915

Related parties

For the purpose of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the
Commission if the Commission has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party, exercise
significant influence over the party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or
where the Commission and the party are subject to common control or significant influence.
Related parties may be individuals or other entities. In accordance with SB-FRS paragraph 284,
the Commission is exempted from disclosing transactions with government-related entities other
than Ministries, Organs of State and other Statutory boards, unless there are circumstances to
indicate that these transactions are unusual and their disclosure would be of interest to readers of
financial statements.
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Key managemeni personnel compensaiion
Key management personnel of the Commission are those persons have the authority and
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Commission. The core

management are considered as key management personnel of the Commission.

Key management personnel compensation comprises:

2021 2020
$ 5
Short-term benefits and salaries paid to directors and above 3,481,295 3,320,389
Allowances paid to non-executive Commission Members 91,818 92,259

3,573,113 3,412,648

Transactions with Ministries, Organs of Siate, Statutory Boards and other Government
Agencies

The Commission leases an office premise from Urban Redevelopment Authority. In addition, the
Commission engages information technology services from Government Technology Agency.

2021 2020
$ $
Operating grants received from government 17,176,300 17,077,500
Project grants received from government 1,610,000 1,620,000
Office premises lease 1,652,161 1,603,799
Computer and IT related expenses 100,422 106,464

Financial instruments

Financial risk management

Overview

The Commission has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

e creditrisk

e liquidity risk

e interest rate risk

This note presents information about the Commission’s exposure to each of the above risks, the
Commission’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the
Commission’s management of capital.

Risk management framework

The Members of the Commission has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight
of the Commission’s risk management framework. Management is responsible for developing

and monitoring the Commission’s risk management policies. Management reports regularly to
the Members of the Commission on its activities.
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The Commission’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks
faced by the Commission, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and
adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect
changes in market conditions and the Commission’s activities. The Commission, through its
training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and
constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

Credir risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Commission if an applicant or counterparty to a
financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises from its financial assets.

The carrying amounts of financial assets in the statement of financial position represent the
maximum exposure to credit risk, before taking into account any collateral held. As at 31 March
2021 and 2020, the Commission does not hold any collateral in respect of its financial assets.
Other receivables

Exposure to credit risk

A summary of the Commission’s exposures to credit risk for other receivables are as follows:

2021 2020
Not credit- Credlit- Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired impaired impaired

$ $ $ $
Not past due 80,395 - 248,698 -
Total gross carrying amount 80,395 - 248,698 -
Loss allowance - - - -

80,395 - 248,698 —

Cash and cash equivalents

The Commission held cash and cash equivalents of $26,279,708 at 31 March 2021 (2020:
$24,487,803). The cash and cash equivalents are held with bank and financial institution
counterparties, which are rated Aaa to Aal (2020: Aaa to Aal) based on Moody’s ratings.

Impairment on cash and cash equivalents has been measured on the 12-month expected loss basis
and reflects the short maturities of the exposures. The Commission considers that its cash and
cash equivalents have low credit risk based on the external credit ratings of the counterparties.
The amount of the allowance on cash and cash equivalents was negligible.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Commission will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations
associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

The Commiission is not subject to regulatory requirement to maintain minimum cash level. 1t is
the policy of the Commission to maintain a level of cash deemed adequate by the management to
finance its operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
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To manage liquidity risk, the Commission places surplus funds with AGD which are readily
available where required. The undiscounted cashflow of the Commission’s current financial
liabilities at the reporting date approximate their carrying amounts and are expected to be settled
within the next 12 months.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate arising from changes in interest rates.

The Commission’s exposure to interest rate risk primarily arises from the cash participation in
AGD’s CLM Scheme. Interest rate risk on cash balances are managed through AGD’s CLM
Scheme. Surplus funds are placed with AGD.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for cash and
cash equivalents balances at the reporting date. If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher
or lower and all other variables held constant, the Commission’s surplus before tax for the period
ended 31 March 2021 would have increased or decreased by $234,505 (2020: $187,916).

Capital management

The Commission manages its capital base in consideration of current economic conditions and its
plan for the year in concern. The request for grants from the Ministry of Trade and Industry is
made though the annual budget exercise. The Commission is not exposed to any external capital
requirements. However, it is required to comply with FCM No. 26/2008 under the Capital
Management Framework for Statutory Boards. The capital structure of the Commission consists
of accumulated surpluses and share capital. The Commission’s capital structure remains
unchanged since 31 March 2020.

Accounting classification and fair values
Fair values versus carvying amounts
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the

statement of financial position, are included in the table below. Further, for the current year the
fair value disclosure of lease liabilities is also not required.

Other Total
Amortised financial carrying Fair
Note cost liabilities amount value
$ $ $ $
2021
Financial assets
Other receivables 7 80,395 - 80,395 80,395
Cash and cash
equivalents 8 26,279,708 - 26,279,708 26,279,708
26,360,103 - 26,360,103 26,360,103
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Other Total
Amortised financial carrying Fair
Note cost liabilities amount value
$ $ $ $
Financial liabilities
Trade and other
payables* 12 - 2,170,752 2,170,752 2,170,752
- 2,170,752 2,170,752 2,170,752
2020
Financial assets
Other receivables 7 248,698 - 248,698 248,698
Cash and cash
equivalents 8 24,487,803 - 24,487,803 24,487,803
24,736,501 - 24,736,501 24,736,501
Financial liabilities
Trade and other
payables* 12 - 3,508,766 3,508,766 3,508,766
Amounts payable to the
supervisory ministry 13 - 160,956 160,956 160,956
- 3,669,722 3,669,722 3,669,722

* excludes contract liabilities

The carrying amounts are assumed to approximate the fair value for all financial assets and
liabilities with maturity periods less than one year and where the effect of discounting is
immaterial.

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities as reported in the financial

statements approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of
these financial instruments,
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